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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

As management of the City of Tacoma, we offer readers of the City of Tacoma’s financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Tacoma for 
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. We encourage readers to consider the information 
presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our Letter of 
Transmittal, which can be found on pages I-VI of this report. All amounts, unless otherwise 
indicated, are expressed in thousands of dollars. 
 
Financial Highlights 

• Total assets of the City exceeded its liabilities by $2.2 billion. Of this amount, $265 
million were reported as unrestricted net assets, amounts which are available for use 
to meet the City’s on-going obligations to citizens and creditors.   

• The City’s net assets increased by nearly $778 million primarily due to additions to 
plant in the Power and Water utilities and for the remaining infrastructure per GASB 
34. 

• Sewer has started spending on the Central Treatment Plant upgrade project; this 
project is expected to be completed by first quarter of 2008. Cost for this project will 
include over $94 million in plant improvements. 

• Tacoma Power reported change in net assets of $68.7 million, up $31.5 million from 
2005, and their operating revenues increased $53.3 million. 

• Tacoma Water reported change in net assets of $29.3 million which included $30.4 
million in capital contributions and was an increase of $4.1 million compared to 2005.   

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Tacoma’s 
basic financial statements. The City of Tacoma’s basic financial statements consist of three 
components: 1) the government-wide financial statements, 2) the fund financial statements, and 
3) the notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary 
information in addition to the basic financial statements.  
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview 
of the City of Tacoma‘s finances, and are similar to private sector financial statements.  The 
statements also include the discretely presented component units Tacoma Community 
Redevelopment Authority (TCRA), the Greater Tacoma Regional Convention Center Public 
Facilities District (GTRCCPFD), and the Foss Waterway Development Authority (FWDA.)  
 
The Statement of Net Assets includes information on all the assets and liabilities of the City of 
Tacoma’s general government as well as its business-type activities.  The difference between the 
assets and liabilities is reported as net assets. Over time, increases and decreases in net assets 
may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City of Tacoma is 
improving or deteriorating.  
  
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government’s net assets 
changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the 
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash 
flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only 
result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused 
vacation leave). 
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Both the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities differentiate the functions of 
general government from the functions of business-type activities.  Governmental activities reflect 
the City’s basic functions such as general government, public safety, public works, economic 
environment/development, and culture and recreation and are primarily supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues.  Business-type activities, primarily utilities, are intended to recover 
most if not all of their costs through user fees and charges for services.  The government-wide 
financial statements can be found on pages 2-5 of this report. 
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Fund Financial Statements 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Tacoma, like other local governments, 
uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements.  All the funds of the City of Tacoma can be divided into three categories: 
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
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Governmental Funds 
Governmental funds are used to account for the functions reported as governmental activities in 
the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near term inflows and outflows of 
expendable resources, as well as on balances of expendable resources available at the end of 
the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing 
requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for the governmental funds with 
similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the 
government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the 
governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance provide a 
reconciliation to facilitate this comparison. 
 
The focus of the governmental fund statements is on major funds.  A fund is considered major if it 
represents at least 10% of the assets, liabilities, revenues or expenditures of its fund category 
and at least 5% of the corresponding totals for the governmental and business-type activities 
combined. All other governmental funds are combined and presented as a single column in the 
respective governmental fund statements. Individual fund data for each of these combined non-
major funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The City of Tacoma adopts a biennial budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison 
statement has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with the budget. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 6-9 of this report. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
There are two types of proprietary funds – internal service and enterprise - both of which the City 
of Tacoma uses.  Internal service funds are used to accumulate and allocate costs internally 
among the City of Tacoma’s various functions. Because these services primarily benefit 
governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. Enterprise funds account for various 
utilities which provide services such as power, water, sewer, and solid waste collection to the 
citizens of Tacoma.  The activities in these funds are primarily supported by user fees and are 
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.  The basic 
proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 10-19 of this report. 
 
Fiduciary Funds 
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the 
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements 
because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City of Tacoma’s programs. 
The accounting used by the fiduciary funds is similar to that used for proprietary funds.  The basic 
fiduciary fund statements can be found on pages 20-21 of this report. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential for a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The 
notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 23-62 of this report. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also contains 
certain required supplementary information (RSI) concerning the City of Tacoma’s budget. 
Required supplementary information can be found on pages 63-66 of this report. 

  v
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Combining Statements – Non-major funds 
The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds, 
internal service funds, and fiduciary funds can be found on pages 67-146 of this report. 
 
Statistical Section 
This section provides financial trends, revenue and debt capacity, and demographic and 
economic information about the City’s operations.  The Statistical Section can be found on pages 
153-177 of this report. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net assets may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  
The City’s total assets exceeded liabilities by $2.2 billion at December 31, 2006.  Seventy-seven 
percent of the total net assets reflect the City’s investment in capital, less any outstanding debt 
used to acquire those assets.  The City uses these capital assets to provide services to its 
citizens; thus, they do not represent resources available for future spending.  Twelve percent of 
the City’s net assets are unrestricted, meaning they are available for meeting the City’s ongoing 
obligations.  The remaining eleven percent of the net assets are restricted for other purposes 
such as debt redemption and new capital construction.  General government net assets represent 
forty-one percent of the total and business-type net assets represent 59% of the total.   
 

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

Governmental net
assets

Business-type net
assets

Dollars in thousands

City of Tacoma--2006 Net Assets

 
 

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Current and other assets 241,206 196,459 873,978 814,744 1,115,184 1,011,203
Capital assets 808,581 188,560 1,861,347 1,747,681 2,669,928 1,936,241
    Total assets 1,049,787 385,019 2,735,325 2,562,425 3,785,112 2,947,444
Current and Other liabilities 52,942 50,714 259,396 223,608 312,338 274,322
Long-term liabilities outstanding 99,949 100,657 1,197,937 1,175,436 1,297,886 1,276,093
    Total liabilities 152,891 151,371 1,457,333 1,399,044 1,610,224 1,550,415
Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets, 722,581 104,725 958,079 924,107 1,680,660 1,028,832
net of related debt
Restricted 26,101 30,321 202,206 82,341 228,307 112,662
Unrestricted 148,214 98,602 117,707 156,933 265,921 255,535
    Total net assets 896,896 233,648 1,277,992 1,163,381 2,174,888 1,397,029

City of Tacoma, Washington 
Statement of Net Assets

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Activities Activities
Governmental Business-type Total
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The City’s net assets increased nearly $778 million.  This increase is largely due to contributed 
capital in the Water utility (donated fixed assets, cash contributions and system development 
charges) and a prior period adjustment for remaining infrastructure pertaining to GASB 34 for 
governmental activities.  See the accompanying notes to the financial statements for more 
information on prior period adjustments.   
 
The governmental activities capital assets increased by $620 million in 2006, which includes the 
reporting of the remaining infrastructure, construction for the D Street overpass bridge project, 
Cheney Stadium Renovation, Chinese Reconciliation project and various street and roadway 
improvements.   
 

                              

2006--Composition of Governmental Net Assets

Restricted 
net assets, 
$26 million 

3% Invested in 
capital assets 
net of related 

debt, $723 
million  80%

Unrestricted 
net assets, 
$148 million 

17%

 
 

  vii

The significant amount of increase in long-term debt for the business-type activities is related to 
the sale of $78.5 million of Water Pollution Control loan and Sewer Revenue and Refunding 
bonds, $51.7 million of Solid Waste Revenue and Refunding bonds, and a $16.5 million General 
Obligation bonds.  The fund statement of cash flows expands on resources used for capital 
construction and related financing. 
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City of Tacoma, Washington 

Changes in Net Assets 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 

 

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Revenues:
Program revenues:
   Charges for services 24,106 24,759 595,952 524,258 620,058 549,017
   Operating grants and contributions 35,142 20,137 1,113 631 36,255 20,768
   Capital grants and contributions 11,430 8,139 45,430 54,870 56,860 63,009
General revenues:
   Property taxes 53,177 54,593 -               -              53,177 54,593
   Other taxes 100,232 95,438 458 376 100,690 95,814
    Other 8,436 5,595 27,364 17,403 35,800 22,998
      Total revenue 232,523 208,661 670,317 597,538 902,840        806,199          

Expenses:
   General government 20,100 21,087 -               -              20,100 21,087
   Public safety 115,572 129,447 -               -              115,572 129,447
   Physical environment 465 491 -               -              465 491
   Transportation 44,744 18,871 -               -              44,744 18,871
   Health and human services 20,968 1,686 -               -              20,968 1,686
   Public works -               -            -               -              -               -                 
   Economic development 1,816 23,281 -               -              1,816 23,281
   Culture and recreation 13,409 13,046 -               -              13,409 13,046
   Interest on long-term debt 4,005 3,432 -               -              4,005 3,432
   Public assembly facilities -               -            17,640 17,049 17,640 17,049
   Rail -               -            18,507 17,142 18,507 17,142
   Solid Waste -               -            44,594 48,311 44,594 48,311
   Sewer -               -            46,930 41,607 46,930 41,607
   Water -               -            54,695 46,016 54,695 46,016
   Electric -               -            323,555 302,482 323,555 302,482
   Other business-type funds -               -            7,254 7,581 7,254 7,581
      Total expenses 221,079 211,341 513,175 480,188 734,254 691,529
Increase in net assets before transfers 11,444 (2,680) 157,142 117,350 168,586 114,670
      Transfers 35,673         31,584      (35,673) (31,584) -               -                 
Increase in net assets 47,117 28,904 121,469 85,766 168,586 114,670
Net assets--January 1, 2006 233,648 207,258 1,163,381 1,093,931 1,397,029 1,301,189
Prior Period Adjustments 616,131 (2,514) (6,858)          (16,316)       609,273        (18,830)          
Net assets--January 1, 2006 (restated) 849,779 204,744 1,156,523 1,077,615 2,006,302 1,282,359
Net assets--December 31, 2006 896,896 233,648 1,277,992 1,163,381 2,174,888 1,397,029

TotalGovernmental Activities Business-type Activities

 
 
Governmental net assets increased in large part of the infrastructure for the prior years.  The 
additions made for infrastructure for prior 2002 infrastructure was an increase of over $593 
million.   
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Net assets in business-type activities rose for several reasons.  Operating revenues for Power 
increased by 16.4% as a result from increased wholesale power revenues.  The Sewer fund had 
an increase in their annual rates effective January 1st.  The Water fund had fixed asset donations 
from private contract customers in the amount of $4.5 million and cash contributions from 
customers and system development charges of $25.9 million. 
 
Financial Analysis of the City’s Fund Statements 
 
The City prepares fund statements for governmental funds and for proprietary funds.   
 
Governmental Fund Statements 
Fund balance for the City’s General Fund increased by $13.1 million in 2006.  The fund balance 
for the nonmajor governmental funds, which includes debt service funds, capital projects funds, 
and special revenue funds, increased by $17 million. The General Fund fund balance increased 
due to grant funding and gross earnings tax revenue.  The nonmajor governmental funds fund 
balance increased due to bonds issued and grant funding. 
 
Proprietary Fund Statements 
The total net assets for enterprise funds increased $114.6 million in 2006.  The Power, Water, 
Solid Waste and Sewer utilities make up the majority of the proprietary funds.  Activity in these 
utilities was the primary driver for the change in the net assets. All four of these utilities had a 
significant increase in their net assets due to upgrades to existing utility plants or capital 
improvements. 
 
The internal service funds net assets increased by $14.1 million.  This is mainly due to an 
increase in employer contributions for benefits, and beginning in August 2006 employee’s started 
paying a portion of their medical benefits.  These changes increased net assets for the Health 
Benefits funds.  
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
The City made significant budgetary adjustments as part of the 2005-2006 modified and final-
biennium adjustments.  Major budget revisions included:  
 

 Increasing estimated revenues by $8.9 million.  Most of this was due to higher than 
anticipated taxes and intergovernmental revenues. 

 Increasing appropriations by $1.1 million for an animal control program previously 
administered by the Tacoma Pierce County Humane Society. 

 Reallocating appropriations of $500,000 for maintenance at the new police facility. 
 Increasing appropriations by $1.1 million to keep Fire Station 13 operational. 
 Increasing appropriations by $1.2 million for Neighborhood Council programs. 
 Increasing appropriations by $800,000 for a new Community Based Services program. 
 Increasing appropriations by $900,000 to retain Community Liaison Officers in the police 

department. 
 Increasing appropriations by $1.4 million for various consultant studies. 
 Increasing appropriations by $700,000 for an interfund loan for Tacoma Rail Mountain 

Division. 
 
There were no significant differences between the revised budgeted expenditures of $371 million 
and the actual expenditures of $359 million. The City’s budget is a two year biennium budget 
which begins every odd year.  
 
 
 
 

  ix
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Capital Assets, Infrastructure, Bond Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets 
The City of Tacoma’s investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, for its 
governmental and business type activities as of December 31, 2006, is $2.7 billion.  This 
investment in capital assets includes land, construction in process, property, plant and 
equipment, infrastructure, museum and historical collections, as well as library materials.  The 
vast majority of this amount represents assets held by the City’s various utilities and 
infrastructure.  
 
The following table summarizes the City’s investment in capital assets.  
(amounts expressed in thousands) 
 

 

CITY OF TACOMA—Capital Assets
Governmental 

Activities
Business-type 

Activities Total
Land 18,945                158,393                177,338              
Construction in progress 80,641                176,561                257,202              
Property, Plant and Equipments 167,111               2,419,850             2,586,961           
Infrastructure 1,082,186            -                        1,082,186           
Works of art 918                     -                        918                     
Library Materials 18,570                -                        18,570                
 Less accumulated depreciation (559,790)             (893,457)               (1,453,247)          
  Total 808,581               1,861,347             2,669,928            

 
Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Notes 1-5 and 4-C of the Notes 
to the Financial Statements. 
 
Infrastructure 
For 2006, the City reported the remaining infrastructure and depreciated them by infrastructure 
classifications. The infrastructure accounts for over $1 million of the governmental activities 
capital assets.  A majority of the infrastructure capital assets net value is from the Roadways. 
 
Outstanding  Debt 
The City’s debt at December 31, 2006, is $1.4 billion.  Approximately 94% of the bonded debt is 
related to utilities with repayment pledged by specific revenue sources generated by the utilities.  
Of the remaining 6% representing general government bonded debt, 46% is secured by voter 
approved special levies and the remainder is councilmanic, which means that general 
government resources are used to pay for the debt. The bond debt issues for general government 
in 2006 were for capital improvements for the police facilities and continuous public works 
projects. Additional information on the City of Tacoma’s long-term debt can be found in Note 4-E 
and Note 12 of the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 
 
CITY OF TACOMA---Short and Long-term Debt

Governmental 
Activities

Business-type 
Activities Total

Bonded debt and loans 86,000                1,190,110             1,276,110           
Capital leases -                      286                       286                     
Claims and judgements 26,769                3,833                    30,602                
Commercial paper -                      -                        -                     
Contracts payable -                      161                       161                     
Accrued landfill liability -                      35,458                  35,458                
Compensated absences 17,349                13,753                  31,102                
 Total 130,118               1,243,601             1,373,719            
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The City’s debt rating for 2006 is as follows:  
Bond LTGO
Raters Debt
Moody’s A1 A1 Aa3 Aa3 Aa3 A3 Aa3 A3
Standard 
& Poors

AA- AA- A+ AA- AA AA- AA- A

Fitch AA- AA- A+ AA A A+

Solid 
Waste

RWSS Convention 
Center

G.O. 
Debt

Light Water Sewer

 
 
Economic Factors 
 
2006 was another good year for the Puget Sound economy as well as the State of Washington.  
The region’s job growth rate continues to grow at a steady rate which clearly shows based on the 
decrease of the unemployment rate.  As of April 2007, Pierce County’s unemployment rate stood 
at 4.7%.  This compares to the state of 4.4% and national unemployment rates of 4.5%.   
 
Uncertainties about future economic changes and financial impacts are common in all cities.  To 
deal with swings in the economy and to plan for future capital expansion, the City routinely puts 
aside resources.  At December 31, 2006, the amounts set aside include $228.3 million in 
restricted assets for construction, debt service, and equipment replacements or other purposes. 
 
Other Considerations 
 
Despite the strong economy, the City still faces expenditure growth that far outpaces revenue 
growth in the General Fund.  This is primarily due to several citizen initiatives that limited the 
growth of property tax collections and vehicle license fees.  In response to these revenue 
restrictions, the City Council took steps during the mid-biennium budget modification process to 
address the structural problems in the budget including a reorganization that involved the 
elimination of 41 positions.   
 
The assessed value of real property in Tacoma continues to grow and will be approximately 
$18.6 billion in 2006.  No matter what the assessed value is, however, the growth rate of property 
tax is limited to 1% per year.  While the City cannot tax the full increased value due to the 1% 
limitation, it does benefit from the growth in other ways.  For instance, many homeowners choose 
to extract their increased equity and spend those dollars in the local economy.  Sales taxes for 
Tacoma were up nearly 10% in 2006 compared to 2005.  In addition, the cost-cutting measures 
implemented in the General Fund will help the City remain on track even if the economy slows in 
reaction to increased oil costs. 
 
The City has adopted the Model Ordinance in accordance with Washington State House Bill 2030 
to provide for municipal tax uniformity among the cities in Washington that impose a Business & 
Occupation (B&O) tax.  The Model Ordinance adversely impacts the City's B&O tax revenues; the 
full impact is estimated at a minimum of $1.5 million a year beginning in 2008. 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those 
with an interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the 
City of Tacoma Finance Department, 747 Market Street Room 132, Tacoma, Washington 98402. 
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Note 1  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
A.  The reporting entity 
The City of Tacoma is a municipal corporation incorporated February 14, 1880.  The City operates under a 
Council-Manager form of government, and under its charter has all powers granted by the constitution and laws of 
the state.  The City provides the full range of services contemplated by statute or charter.  These include police, 
fire, public works, planning and development, human relations, and general administrative and support services. 

 
The accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units.  Component units are separate 
legal entities for which the City is financially accountable.  Exclusion of these entities would cause the City’s 
financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.   
 
Discretely presented Component Units: 
 
The Tacoma Community Redevelopment Authority (TCRA) is a separate public corporation established through 
City ordinances and the laws of the State of Washington.  The TCRA was created to administer HUD programs 
and assists the City in economic development efforts of a business nature or with home owners.  Separate 
financial statements for the Authority can be obtained from the Tacoma Community Redevelopment Authority, by 
writing to TCRA, 747 Market Street, Room 1036, Tacoma, Washington. 
 
The Greater Tacoma Regional Convention Center Public Facilities District (GTRCC PFD) is a separate public 
corporation organized under Washington State law.  The district was created pursuant to an interlocal agreement 
between the cities of Tacoma, Fife, University Place, Lakewood and Pierce County.  Liability of the district is 
limited to the district’s assets with no recourse to the City of Tacoma assets or property.  The district has entered 
into an interlocal agreement with the City of Tacoma to assist with the construction and operation of a Convention 
Center.  The district imposed the 0.33 percent sales and use tax authorized by RCW 82.08 and 82.12, and also 
has the authority to impose admission and parking taxes.  The district pays these revenues to the City of Tacoma 
primarily for the debt service on bonds issued by the City for the construction of the Convention Center.  The 
district assigned the title to the Convention Center inclusive of real property, buildings, fixtures, furnishings, 
appurtenances and improvements to the City of Tacoma.  Separate financial statements for the District can be 
requested from the City of Tacoma Finance Department. 
 
The Foss Waterway Development Authority (FWDA), a separate legal entity and is presented as a discretely 
presented component unit in the City’s statements.  The Authority was created on October 1, 1996 by Resolution 
No. 33513.  Under the terms of an agreement between the City and the Authority, the FWDA manages the 
redevelopment of property within and along the Thea Foss Waterway.  The FWDA serves both the environment 
and the City in taking steps to improve the enhancement of the Waterway.  Separate financial statements for the 
Authority can be obtained from the Foss Waterway Development Authority, Tacoma, Washington.  
 
Joint Ventures—The City participates in three joint ventures with Pierce County.   

 
Cheney Stadium—The Tacoma City Council approves the budget and provides the operating funds for the 
Cheney Stadium facility.  The City and Pierce County each have a fifty percent interest in the stadium’s capital 
assets and are jointly responsible for financing deficits.  The Cheney Stadium facility is not considered to be a 
legally separate entity.  The City is responsible for operating the stadium and the results of operations. 

 
Law Enforcement Support Agency (LESA) and the Tacoma-Pierce County Health Department—The governing 
bodies of both LESA and the Tacoma-Pierce County Health Department are appointed jointly by the City of 
Tacoma and Pierce County Councils. The City is not financially accountable for these two entities and contributes 
substantially less than half of their operating revenues.  Financial information for both entities is included in Note 8 
Section I. 
 
B.   Government-wide and fund financial statements 
Basic financial statements are presented at both the government-wide and fund financial level.  Both levels of 
statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business type.  Governmental activities, which 
are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type 
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.  Likewise, the primary government is 
reported separately from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially 
accountable. 
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Government-wide financial statements, the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities, report 
information on all non-fiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units.  For the most part, 
the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  Exceptions to this general rule are 
payments-in-lieu of taxes, charges between the City’s utilities and various other functions of the government, and 
some indirect cost allocations between the general fund and other funds of the city.  Eliminations of these charges 
would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 
 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given governmental 
function or business segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants 
who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment 
and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a given 
function or segment.  Taxes, transfers between funds and other items not properly included among program 
revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 

 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even 
though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements.  Major individual governmental 
funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.  
 
C.  Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements.  Revenues are 
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related 
cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar 
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.   
 
Private sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, generally are 
followed in both government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those standards do 
not conflict with or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.  The City has elected to 
follow subsequent private sector guidance for its utility funds.   

 
The City uses encumbrance accounting.  Purchase orders, contracts and other commitments are recorded as 
encumbrances.  Encumbrances at year end are reported as reservations of fund balances for governmental type 
funds.  Encumbrances outstanding at the end of the biennium are reappropriated at the beginning of the next 
biennium.  

 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus 
and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable 
and available.  Revenues are considered available when they are collectible within the current period or soon 
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be 
available if they are collected within sixty (60) days of the end of the current fiscal period.  Expenditures are 
generally recorded when a liability is incurred and when goods and services are received, as under accrual 
accounting.  However, debt services expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and 
claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Property taxes, franchise fees, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to 
be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  Only the portion 
of special assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to accrual 
as revenue of the current period.  Deferred revenues represent property taxes that were not available to finance 
expenditures of the current period and grant revenues received in advance. All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 

 
Since the governmental fund statements are presented on a different measurement focus and basis of accounting 
than the government-wide statements governmental column, a reconciliation is necessary to explain the 
adjustments needed to transform the fund based financial statements into the governmental column of the 
government-wide presentation.  This reconciliation is part of the financial statements. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  Operating revenues 
and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a 
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the City’s various utilities and 
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internal service funds are charges to customers for sales and services.  The City enterprise funds also recognize 
as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the 
system.  Operating expenses for enterprise and internal service funds include the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this 
definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental fund: 

 
The general fund is the government’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial resources of the general 
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

 
The wastewater and surface water (sewer) accounts for the planning, design, construction, operation, and 
maintenance of the Wastewater and Surface water facilities owned by the City. 
 
The water utility accounts for the activities of the City’s water distribution system. 
 
The light (power) utility accounts for the activities of the City’s electric production and distribution operations. 
 
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 
Internal service funds account for finance, budget office, BSIP project, human resources, asphalt plant, youth 
build Tacoma, facilities management, graphics services fund, equipment rental, radio communications, self-
insurance for liability, property, unemployment compensation and worker’s compensation, fleet services, health 
benefits fund and information systems.  These funds provide services to other departments on a cost 
reimbursement basis.   

 
The pension trust fund accounts for the activities of the City’s retirement system, which accumulates resources for 
pension benefit payments to qualified city employees. The police and fire relief and pension trust funds account 
for the activities related to the police and fire LEOFF pension system. The employees benefit trust funds include 
deferred compensation and miscellaneous payroll deduction funds account for activities related to mandatory and 
optional payroll deductions. 
     
Agency funds account for Law Enforcement Support Agency, Tacoma Urban Network, and Tacoma Pierce 
County Employment Training Consortium which the City acts as an agent for these funds. 

 
The City has no private purpose trust funds or permanent funds. 
 
D.  Assets, liabilities and net assets or equity. 
 
1.  Cash and investments 
The City’s cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash working fund, restricted cash, short term 
investments with original or remaining maturities of three months or less when purchased, and cash and 
investments in the City-wide investment pool.  Investments, including equity in pooled cash and investments are 
stated at fair value, except for the pension trust fund which is reported on a trade date basis, at fair value.  No 
direct investments restricted or otherwise, are considered to be cash equivalents.  The City’s uses a pooled 
investment portfolio.  Each fund receives interest based on a pro-rata share of its cash balance to the total cash 
invested.  Portfolio earnings are distributed monthly based on average daily cash balances of the participating 
funds.   
 
2.  Receivables and Payables 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at year end are 
referred to as either “Due to/from other funds”, if current, or “advances to/from other funds”, if long-term.  All other 
outstanding balances between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds”.  Any residual balances 
outstanding between the governmental activities and the business-type activities are reported in the government-
wide financial statements as “internal balances”. 

 
Advances between funds, as reported in the fund financial statements, are offset by a fund balance reserve 
account in applicable governmental funds to indicate that they are not available for appropriation and are not 
expendable available financial resources. 
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Property taxes are levied in November and become a property lien as of January 1.  The first half is due April 30 
and the second half on October 31.  If the first half is not paid by April 30, the total annual tax becomes 
delinquent.  Property taxes are collected by Pierce County and remitted to the City monthly.  An allowance for 
uncollectible accounts is deemed unnecessary as delinquent taxes become an enforceable lien on the property.  
Property taxes collected within 60 days after year end are considered measurable and available and are 
recognized as revenues in the fund statements.  The total levy is recognized as revenue in the government-wide 
financial statements, regardless of when collected. 

 
Utility receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.  The uncollectible amount is established 
based on an analysis of historical experience.  Allowances for other receivables are not utilized because the 
amounts are not material. 

 
Notes and contracts receivable signed between the City and/or the Tacoma Community Redevelopment Authority 
(TCRA) and various parties represent economic development efforts of either a business nature or with home 
owners.  A large majority of the Light (electric) utility notes and contracts receivable represent energy 
conservation efforts between the City and home owners or businesses. 
 
3.  Inventories and Prepaid Items 
Inventories for proprietary funds are valued at first-in/first out, moving average cost method, or lower of cost or 
market, depending on the fund.  Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed 
rather than when purchased. 

 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid 
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
4.  Restricted Assets 
Restricted assets in the enterprise funds are moneys which are restricted by legal or contractual requirements.  
These assets are generally intended for either construction of capital assets or for the repayment of debt. See 
Note 4-G for further information. 
 
5.  Capital Assets 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure (e.g. roads, bridges, sidewalks and 
similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-
wide financial statements.  The City included governmental infrastructure constructed in years 2002-2006 will 
depreciate except for 2006 due to City’s policy.  Under the requirements of GASB 34, the City has included the 
remainder of its infrastructure assets for prior to 2002 in the 2006 statements.  

 
Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an 
estimated life in excess of two years.  Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost 
when purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of 
donation.  The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value or the life of the asset are 
expensed. 

 
Depreciation on all capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the government-wide Statement of 
Activities and in the proprietary fund statements.  Capital assets are reported net of depreciation.  The City uses a 
combination of group depreciation and straight-line depreciation over the life of the assets.   
 
The estimated useful lives for all City funds are: 
 
 Buildings 5 – 100 years 
 Improvements Other Than Buildings 3 – 100 years 
 Library Materials 2 – 10 years 
 Utility Plant 5 –  75 years 
 Equipment 2 –  40 years 
 Infrastructure 20 – 50 years 

 
6.  Compensated Absences 
The City has two different policies for compensated absences.  The City’s original policy allowed employees to 
accrue vacation based on the number of years worked with a maximum accrual equal to the amount earned in a 
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two-year period.  These employees also accrue one day of sick leave per month without any ceiling on the 
maximum accrued.  An employee is entitled to 25% of the value of the sick leave at retirement or death or 10% of 
the value upon termination for any reason.  Under the City’s current policy, new employees earn Personal Time 
Off (PTO) without distinction between vacation and sick leave.  Employees who worked for the City prior to the 
change could chose to stay with the original policy or opt to convert to the new policy.  The amount of PTO 
earned is based on years of service.  The Tacoma Public library has slightly different rules governing sick leave 
and vacation leave, but these differences are not considered material to the City’s financial statements. 

  
In governmental funds, vacation pay, sick leave or PTO are recorded as expenditures when paid which occurs 
when used or upon employee termination.  In the entity-wide statements and the proprietary fund statements, 
vacation pay and PTO are recorded as a liability and expense in the year earned.  A liability and expense is 
recorded for the vested amount of sick leave.     

 
The differences between the governmental fund statements and the entity-wide statements represent reconciling 
items between the fund level and government-wide financial statements.  The reconciliations are included as part 
of the financial statements.  
 
7.  Long-Term Obligations 
In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund financial statements, long-term debt and 
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type 
activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net assets.  Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance 
costs are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method.  Bonds payable 
are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.  Bond issuance costs are reported as deferred 
charges and amortized over the term of the related debt.   
 
In governmental fund financial statements, bond premiums and discounts and bond issuance costs are treated as 
expenditures of the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources while 
discounts and issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
8.  Fund Equity 
In the fund financial statements, governmental and proprietary funds report reservations of fund balances or 
reservations of net assets for amounts that are not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside 
parties for use for specific purposes.  Designations of fund balance or net assets represent tentative management 
plans that are subject to change. Restricted net assets are subject to restrictions by creditors, grantors, 
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provision or 
enabling legislation. 
 
Note 2 Reconciliation of government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
A. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the government-
wide statement of net assets. 
The governmental fund balance sheet includes reconciliation between fund balances—total governmental funds 
and net assets—governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net assets.  As 
explained in Note 1 C, this reconciliation is necessary because of the differences in accounting basis, most 
significantly the differences in accounting for capital assets and debt.   
 
One element of that reconciliation explains that “long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and 
payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds”. The details of this  $ difference are as 
follows:  
(amounts expressed in thousands) 
  

Bonds and leases payable                                    $  82,231                 
Compensated absences                                           15,806               

  

   
 Net adjustment to reduce fund balance for total   $   98,037 

governmental fund  to arrive at net assets for governmental 
activities 

 
 
 

B.  Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities 
The governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances includes 
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reconciliation between net changes in fund balances—total governmental funds and changes in net assets of 
governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of activities.  One element of that 
reconciliation explains that “Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the 
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as 
depreciation expense.”   
 
The details of this $  difference are as follows: 
 
 Capital outlay                                                          $  32,681  
 Depreciation expense                                               (29,856)  
  

Net adjustment to increase net changes                $    2,825 
in fund balances – total governmental funds 
 to arrive at changes in net assets of governmental activities 

 

 
The issuance costs, premium and similar items on the debt issued in the current year were immaterial to the 
financial statements. 
 
Another element of the reconciliation states that “Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not 
require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental 
funds,”  The details of this $  difference are as follows: 
 
 Compensated absences                                       $   (130)  
 Accrued interest                                                          433  
 Prior year interest accrual                                          (371)  
  

Net adjustment to decrease net                            $     (68)                 
changes in fund balances – total governmental  
funds to arrive at changes in net assets of governmental 
activities 

 

 
Note 3  Stewardship, compliance and accountability 
 
A.  Budgetary information 
The Tacoma City Council adopts a biennial budget using an appropriation ordinance.  While not legally required 
by law, the City also adopts budgets for proprietary funds and some selected trust funds.  There were no material 
violations of expenditures exceeding appropriations. 

 
The description of the budget process, any funds that exceeded appropriations (immaterial amounts), and the 
budget reconciliation schedule are included in the budget notes included in the Required Supplementary 
Information (RSI) and Combining Statements – Nonmajor funds sections.  Budgetary data for the general fund is 
included in the RSI and the Nonmajor governmental funds are included in the Combining Statements – Nonmajor 
funds section. The budgetary statements show the original budget, final amended budget and actual amounts 
expended for the biennium.  
 
B.  Deficit net assets (or fund balance) 
The following internal services and utility funds had deficit net assets.   
 
The Third Party Liability Claims Fund has net assets deficit due to an excess of accrued and incurred but not 
reported (IBNR) claims over total assets. 
 
The Workers Compensation Fund has net assets deficit due to insufficient contributions from the departments, 
and an excess of accrued and IBNR claims over total assets. 
 
The Health Benefits Fund has net assets deficit due to insufficient contributions from the departments, and an 
excess of accrued and IBNR claims over total assets. 
 
However, these funds have a positive cash balance to cover on going expenditures.  In addition, the City is 
currently studying these programs to ensure that future claims are fully funded. 
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The Solid Waste Utility Fund resulted from recording landfill closure cost and post closure liability in 2002.  User 
rates will eventually negate this deficit.   
 
The deficit in the Conservation Project fund resulted from incurring bond debt in order to continue the 
conservation efforts of the City.  The Bonneville Power Administration (BPA), under an agreement with the City, 
has committed to contributing the resources to liquidate this debt.  (amounts expressed in thousands) 
 
  Fund                 Deficit 
          Solid Waste Fund                                                                                                $ (1,851) 
          Conservation Project Fund                                                                                   (11,711) 
          Third Party Liability Claims Fund                                                                          (10,541) 
          Workers Compensation Fund                                                                                    (911) 
          Health Benefits Fund                                                                                                 (262) 
           
C.  Legal and contractual compliance 
The City has complied, to the best of its knowledge, with all material finance-related legal and contractual 
provisions.  No related party transactions have been identified. 
 
Note 4   Detailed notes on all funds 
 
A.  Deposits and Investments 
 
1.  Legal, contractual and administrative provisions 

 
Certificates of Deposit (CDs):  The City places certificates of deposit and demand deposits only with State of 
Washington banks and savings and loan institutions approved as qualified public depositories under chapter 
39.58 RCW by the Washington State Public Deposit Protection Commission (WSPDPC).  Qualified public 
depositories are limited to banks operating within Washington State, which have executed a Deposit Pledge 
Agreement with the WSPDPC.  The WSPDPC maintains a multiple financial institution collateral pool wherein the 
qualified public depositories pledge and transmit to a third party trustee securities through the execution of the 
pledge agreement, providing common collateral for their deposits of public funds.  The assets of the pool and the 
power to make additional assessments against the members of the pool, if necessary, insure there will be no loss 
of public funds because of default of a member.  WSPDPC allows for deposits up to the net worth of a qualified 
institution. 

 
At year end, the carrying amount of the City’s deposits was $ 10,167,177.   
 
Other Investments:  State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, agencies, and 
instrumentalities, bankers’ acceptances, commercial paper, and repurchase agreements.  The City is also 
authorized to enter into reverse repurchase agreements.  The pension trust fund is authorized to invest under the 
“prudent person rule”. 
 
The City sustained no investment losses during 2006, there was no significant loss potential, and there were no 
significant or recurring violations of administrative, legal or contractual provisions. 
 
Security lending:  The City is authorized under State Law, primarily RCW 43.84.080, RCW 39.59.020 and by the 
City of Tacoma Investment Policy (Tacoma City Charter Section 7.4) to make security lending transactions.  
Securities lent are collateralized with cash or securities having 102 percent of market value. The city did 
participate in security lending transactions in 2006.  
 
Investment committee guidelines:  The City’s Investment Committee, composed of the Mayor, the Finance 
Director and the City Treasurer, recommended the following portfolio mix guidelines.  These guidelines are 
intended to limit risk and generate a competitive return on investments.  The Committee recognizes that daily 
transactions may misalign this mix. 
 
1.  Banker’s Acceptances:  City investment policy allows for purchases of banker’s acceptances from the top 50 
world banks as published by American Banker.  Portfolio mix guidelines suggest a maximum of 40% of the total 
portfolio with no more than 10% of the total portfolio in any one bank. 
2.  U.S. Treasury Bills, Certificates, Notes and Bonds:  Portfolio mix guidelines allow for a maximum of 100% of 
the total portfolio be invested in these securities. 
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3.  U.S. Government Agency Securities:  Portfolio mix guidelines suggest a maximum of 90% of the total portfolio 
with no more than 50% of the total portfolio per agency. 
 
4.  Commercial Paper:  Portfolio mix guidelines require the highest rating by at least two nationally recognized 
rating agencies for purchase with no more than 10% of the portfolio invested in commercial paper with an 
additional limit of no more than 3% in any one issuer. 
 
5.  Repurchase Agreements:  Portfolio mix guidelines suggest repurchase agreements be limited to maximum of 
15% of the total portfolio.  The market value of collateral must exceed the dollar amount of the repurchase 
agreement by 2 % over the term of the agreement.  The collateral must be an investment instrument which the 
City is authorized to purchase. 
 
6.  Reverse Repurchase Agreements:  The city did not participate in any reverse repurchase agreements in 2006. 
 
2.  Deposits and investments – December 31, 2006 
 
Custodial credit risk – deposits All bank deposits are covered 100% by federal depository insurance and pledged 
collateral on deposit with WSPDPC. 
 
Foreign currency risk – deposits The city has no deposits in subject to foreign currency risk. 
 
All certificates of deposit held by the City are in the City’s name and are insured by FDIC up to $100,000 and by 
the Washington Public Deposit Protection Commission (WPDPC) for amounts over $100,000.  Under Washington 
State statute, members of the WPDPC, a multiple financial institution collateral pool, may be assessed on a 
prorated basis if the pool’s collateral is insufficient to cover a loss.   
 
At December 31, 2006, the City’s total deposits and investments consisted of the follow: 
 

Schedule of Deposits and Investments 
December 31, 2006 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 
 

 
Pooled Investments (less TCRA) 2,209,559$         
Certificates of Deposit 10,168                
Treasurer's Cash, Net (1,017)                 
Petty Cash Funds 317                     

Sub-Total 2,219,027$         

Tacoma Community Redevelopment Authority * (TCRA)   2,500                  
Tacoma Community Redevelopment Authority - Cash   3,796                  

Sub-Total (TCRA) 6,296                  

Total 2,225,323$         

Carrying Amount of City's Deposits 9,468$                 
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At year end, the government’s investment balances, expressed in thousands, were as follows: 
 

Fair Value at 
12/31/06

Investments:
Financial Institutions

WA State Local Govt Investor Pool 41,102             
US Treasury Securities 2,767               
Government Agencies (various) 826,862           
Commercial Paper 10,570             
Electric System Revenue Bonds Investments 8,761               
Equity in Pool Transferred to TCRA (2,500)              

Total Investments with Financial Institutions 887,563$         

Tacoma Community Redevelopment Authority:
  TCRA Equity in Investment Pool 2,500               

Total TCRA Investments 2,500$              
 

Pension Trust
Fair Value at 

12/31/06
Other Assets Not Allowable for City Investments

U. S. Government obligations 67,516             
Domestic corporate bonds 232,758           
Domestic stocks 448,018           
International stocks 179,636           
International bonds 12,940             
REITs 162,330           
Securities lending collateral 196,854           
Short Term Inv/Mutual Funds 21,943             

Total Other Investments - Pension Trust 1,321,996$      

TOTAL 2,212,059$      

 Less:  

Tacoma Community Redevelopment Fund (2,500)              

INVESTMENTS AS REPORTED 2,209,559$       
 
 
 

3.  General Disclosure and Disclosure Relating to Interest Rate Risk/Segmented Time Distribution  
Method 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value 
change in market interest rates.  City of Tacoma Investment Policy allows for authorized investments up to 60 
months to maturity.  One way the City manages its exposure to interest rate risk is by timing cash flows from 
maturities so that portions of the portfolio are maturing over time to provide cash flow and liquidity needed for 
operations.  In addition to the $177,175,000 maturing in 12 months or less, the City for immediate use had 
interest earning deposits of $41,000,000 with the State Treasurer's Local Government Investment Pool and 
$10,000,000 demand deposit account with a commercial bank. 
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Maturing Maturing Maturing Maturing Maturing

12 Months 13-24 25-36 37-48 49-60
Investment Type Par Or Less Months Months Months Months

Fixed Rate Non-Callable Agency Securities 146,440,000           76,025,000       70,415,000         
Fixed Rate Callable Agency Securities 665,372,000           95,000,000       231,297,000       108,885,000   56,980,000   173,210,000   
Fixed Rate Municipal Securities 7,740,000               6,150,000         1,590,000           

Total 819,552,000           177,175,000     303,302,000       108,885,000   56,980,000   173,210,000   
% of Portfolio 21.6% 37.0% 13.3% 7.0% 21.1% 
 
4.  Disclosure Relating to Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is generally the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the 
investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization.  Presented below is the minimum rating required by state statute, which is the same in the City 
Investment policy and the actual rating as of the end of the year 2006 for each type of investment.  AAA is the 
highest rating for bonds. 
 

Minimum
Legal

Investment Type Par Requirement AAA AA A1 A
Fixed Rate Non-Callable Agency Securities 146,440,000      AAA 146,440,000      
Fixed Rate Callable Agency Securities 665,372,000      AAA 665,372,000      
Fixed Rate Municipal Securities 7,740,000          A  7,740,000          

Total 819,552,000      811,812,000      7,740,000          -                    

Current Credit Rating

 
 
5.  Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
Concentration Risk disclosure is required for all investments in any one issuer that is 5% or more of the total of 
the City's investments. 
 

Issuer Investment Type Reported Amount Percentage
Federal Home Loan Bank Agency Securities 354,578,000      43.7%
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Agency Securities 211,539,000      26.1%
Federal National Mortgage Association Agency Securities 194,740,000      24.0%
Federal Farm Credit Corporation Agency Securities 44,060,000        5.4%
Federal Agriculture Mortgage Corporation Agency Securities 6,895,000          0.8%
Total 811,812,000      100.0%  
 
6. Disclosure of Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk – Investments 
 
The city policy is all security transactions are settled "delivery versus payment" by the City's safekeeping bank. 
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B.  Receivables 
Receivables as of year end for the governments and enterprise’s individual major funds and nonmajor, internal 
service and fiduciary funds, including applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts are as follows: 
 
Accounts Receivable General Other Gov't Sewer Water 
(amounts expressed in thousands) Fund Funds Fund Fund
Accounts receivable - net - ST 678             10,280             9,053         10,237          
Interest receivable - net - ST -             30                    -             -                
Taxes receivable - net - ST 13,240        972                  -             -                
Loans receivable - net - ST -             514            -                
Notes & contracts receivable - net - ST -             1,000               -             7,148            
Interest receivable - net - LT -             -                   -             -                
Taxes receivable - net - LT -             -                   -             -                
Notes & contracts receivable - net - LT -             -                   -             -                
Total $13,918 $12,282 $9,567 $17,385

Other Internal 
Accounts Receivable Light Enterprise Service Fiduciary 
(amounts expressed in thousands) Fund Funds Funds Funds Total
Accounts receivable - net - ST 63,357        13,679             3,416         2,980            113,680    
Interest receivable - net - ST -             -                   -             5,392            5,422        
Taxes receivable - net - ST -             -                   -             -                14,212      
Loans receivable - net - ST -             -                   -             -                514           
Notes & contracts receivable - net - ST -             59,997             -             -                68,145      
Interest receivable - net - LT -             -                   -             -                -           
Taxes receivable - net - LT -             -                   -             -                -           
Notes & contracts receivable - net - LT -             -                   -             -                -           
Total $63,357 $73,676 $3,416 $8,372 $201,973  
 
C.   Capital Assets   
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2006 was as follows (amounts expressed in thousands): 
 

Governmental Activities  Beg Balance Increases Decrease
Prior Year 

Adj 
 Ending 
Balance 

Capital assets, not being depreciated
Land 18,954            5                    (14)                  -                18,945            
Construction work in progress 69,057            14,343           (2,759)             -                80,641            

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 88,011            14,348           (2,773)             -                99,586            

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Property, plant and equipment 161,765          10,134           (3,293)             (1,495)           167,111          
Art 918                 -                 -                  -                918                 
Library materials 17,961            1,902             (1,296)             3                   18,570            
Infrastructure 41,795            15,218           -                  1,025,173     1,082,186       

Total capital assets, being depreciated 222,439          27,254           (4,589)             1,023,681     1,268,785       

Less accumulated depreciation:

Property, plant and equipment (104,702)         (9,071)            2,836              1,494            (109,443)         
Library materials (14,584)          (1,013)            1,296              -                (14,301)           
Infrastructure (2,604)            (27,583)          -                  (405,859)       (436,046)         
Total accumulated depreciation (121,890)         (37,667)          4,132              (404,365)       (559,790)         

Governmental activities capital assets $188,560 $3,935 ($3,230) $619,316 $808,581
(net of accumulated depreciation)  
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Business-type Activities Beg Balance Increases Decreases Ending Balance
Capital Assets, not being depreciated
Land 123,865              34,528               -                   158,393               
Construction Work in Progress 137,331              78,000               (38,770)            176,561               
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 261,196              112,528             (38,770)            334,954               

Capital Assets, being depreciated:
Property, plant and equipment 2,320,157           158,315             (58,622)            2,419,850            
Total capital assets, being depreciated 2,320,157           158,315             (58,622)            2,419,850            

Less accumulated depreciation:

Property, plant and equipment (833,672)             (74,551)              14,766             (893,457)             
Total accumulated depreciation (833,672)             (74,551)              14,766             (893,457)             

Total capital assets (net of accumulated 
depreciation) $1,747,681 $196,292 ($82,626) $1,861,347  
 
 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as 
follows: 
   
Governmental Activities:   
   
General Government 241  
Public Safety 1,386  
Physical Environment 6  
Transportation 27,789  
Economic Environment 252  
Mental and Physical Health 21  
Culture and Recreation 161  
Capital assets held by government's internal service funds are    
charged to the various functions based on their usage of the assets 7,811  
   
Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $37,667  
   
Business-type Activities:   
   
Public Assembly Facilities 3,349  
Rail 1,070  
Solid waste 6,277  
Sewer 8,694  
Water 11,557  
Light 42,600  
Other business-type funds 913  
   
Total depreciation expense - business-type activities $74,460  
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D.    Leases 
 
Capital leases 
The City leases certain equipment under various capital lease agreements. Capital lease balances at December 
31, 2006:                                       (amounts expressed in thousands) 
                                                                     Business Activities 
                                                   
                        Tacoma Dome Energy Upgrades        $286 
                                  
The future minimum lease obligations and the net present value of these minimum lease payments as of 
December 31, 2006, are as follows: (amounts expressed in thousands)                          
 
                                 Business Activities   
 

Year Ending Dec. 31 Amount
2007 44
2008 48
2009 50
2010 47

2011-2013 154
Total minimum lease payments 343
Less: interest amount (57)
Present value of min lease payment $286  

 
E.  Short-term debt         
The City rolled over $24.7 million existing tax-exempt and taxable commercial paper which provided short-term 
financing for the construction of the Convention Center and downtown parking facilities expansion project.  The 
commercial paper was retired by a bond issuance of Limited General Obligation 2006A Bonds in 2006. The 
capital lease was issued in 2001 for capital improvements for the Tacoma Dome but has been reclass to Long-
term debt. The contract payable is for short-term liabilities for the parking garage facilities.  
 
Governmental activities: 
No short-term debt was issued in 2006 or outstanding in 2005. 
 

Business-type activities:
(amounts expressed in thousands) Beginning Ending

Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Capital leases 317           -                  317             -                  
Commerical Paper 24,700 -                  24,700        -                  
Contract Payable 204 -                  43               161

Total $25,221 -                  25,060        $161  
 

F.  Long-term debt 
General obligation bonds 
The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major capital 
facilities.  General obligation bonds have been issued for governmental and business-type activities.  The original 
amount of general obligation bonds issued in prior years was $ 121.5 million.  During the year, there were bonds 
issued in the amount of $33.5 million to finance the construction of Police Facilities, to retire outstanding 
commercial paper and long-term financing for the Convention Center and to refund 1997A LTGO bonds to realize 
interest earnings.  These issues carry variable interest rates adjusted quarterly equal to the composite interest 
rate earned on the investments of the City Treasury’s pooled cash portfolio for the previous calendar quarter. 
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General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the government.  General 
obligation bonds currently outstanding are as follows: (amounts expressed in thousands) 
 
                                                                Interest Rates                                   Amount 
Governmental Activities                           4.39%--6.65%                                 $83,472 

Business-type Activities                           4.45%--4.92%                                 $67,410 

 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for General Obligation bonds and Public Works Trust Fund Loan are 
as follows: (amounts expressed in thousands) 
 

                         

Principal Interest Principal Interest
2007 4,819 2,788 990 3,390
2008 8,461 2,750 1,305 3,234
2009 4,388 2,615 1,350 3,168
2010 4,521 2,472 1,400 3,099
2011 4,661 2,319 1,460 3,029
2012-2016 23,760 14,291 8,225 14,008
2017-2021 25,590 8,669 10,120 11,884
2022-2026 7,272 324 12,680 9,183
2027-2031 -                     -                      16,170 5,761
2032-2036 -                     -                      13,710 1,561
   Total $83,472 $36,228 $67,410 $58,317

Governmental Activities
GO Bonds and Public Works Trust Fund Loans

Business-type Activities

 
 
Special assessment bonds 
The City has issued special assessment bonds in prior years for various capital construction purposes.  These 
bonds will be repaid from amounts levied against the property owners benefited by this construction.  In the event 
that a deficiency exists because of unpaid or delinquent special assessments at the time a debt service payment 
is due, the City must provide resources to cover the deficiency until other foreclosure proceeds are received. As 
of December 31, 2006, the amount of LID Special Assessment delinquency equals $93,461. The bond interest 
rates range from 3.9 to 5.9% and are payable over the next twenty years. 
 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for special assessment debt outstanding at year end are as follows:  
 (amounts expressed in thousands) 
 

Principal Interest
2007 -                     53
2008 -                     53
2009 -                     53
2010 -                     53
2011 500 53
2012-2016 -                     121
2017-2021 -                     121
2022-2026 2,028 121
   Total $2,528 $628

Special Assessment Debt
Governmental Activities

 
                                                                  
Revenue Bonds and Loans 
The City also issues bonds where the City pledges income derived from acquired or constructed assets to pay 
debt service.  The original amount of revenue bonds, WA public works board loans and drinking water state 
revolving loans issued in prior years was $ 1.1 billion.  During the year, these bonds and loans totaling $ 136 
million were issued for capital improvements for Solid Waste, Water and Rail and a treatment plant upgrade for 
the Sewer fund.   
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for revenue bonds outstanding at year-end are as follows: 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 
 
                                                                 

Principal Interest
2007 39,814 52,331
2008 81,257 50,312
2009 44,198 48,259
2010 48,847 45,924
2011 51,307 43,401
2012--2016 297,290 174,649
2017--2021 363,199 93,856
2022--2026 96,874 36,992
2027--2031 58,095 18,671
2032--2036 38,606 5,259
     Total $1,119,487 $569,654

Business-type Activities
Revenue Bonds and Loans

 
 

 
Governmental activities--long-term

 (amounts expressed in thousands) Beginning Ending Due within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance one year

 General obligation bonds 69,605 17,085       16,466 70,224 4,819
Public works trust fund loan 11,525 2,500         777 13,248 916
Bond anticipation notes 827 546            -                 1,373 -                 
Special assessment debt 1,830 -                 675 1,155 -                 
   Total bonds and loans payable 83,787 20,131       17,918 86,000 5,735
Capital leases 48 -                 48                  - -                 
Claims and judgments 28,083 -                 1,314 26,769 21,544
Accrued employee leave benefits 17,632 11,066       11,349       17,349 1,735
Governmental activities--long-term
liabilities $129,550 $31,197 $30,629 $130,118 $29,014  

 
Business activities--long-term

 (amounts expressed in thousands) Beginning Ending Due within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance one year

 Revenue bonds 1,060,001 132,277     96,420 1,095,858 38,482
 Water public works board and drinking 
water  state revolving loans  21,536 3,400         1,308         23,628 1,321         
General obligation bonds 51,900 16,475       965            67,410 990            
net of unamortized premium and discount (1,767) 1,482         3,334         (3,619) -                 
Bond anticitpation notes 4,848 2,500         514            6,834 1,217         
Capital leases 327 -                 41              286 30              
Environmental liability 13,379 -                 9,546         3,833 2,088         
Landfill closure cost liability 34,358 1,100         -                 35,458 -                 
Accrued employee leave benefits 13,293 9,151         8,691         13,753 1,375         
Business activities--long-term
liabilities $1,197,875 $166,385 $120,819 $1,243,441 $45,503  

 
 

Internal service funds predominately serve the governmental funds.  Accordingly, long-term liabilities for them are 
included as part of the above totals for governmental activities.  At year end, $1,543 of internal service funds 
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compensated absences were included in the above amounts.  For governmental activities compensated 
absences are liquidated by the general or special revenue funds.  The Water public works board and drinking 
water revolving loans have been separated from the revenue bonds which is how it was reported in prior years. 
 

Beginning Endin
Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Notes and Contracts Payable - LT 6,134 (496) 5,638
Total 6,134$      -            (496)$        5,638$      

Tacoma Redevelopment Authority—Component unit debt—not a liability of the City

 
  

Refunding trustee 
The Solid Waste fund used operating cash of $9,977,496 to defease $9,795,000 of the 1997 Refunding Bonds in 
2006.  Loss on the defeasance was $669,531 and $442,000 was transferred from the bond reserved fund to the 
bond construction bond.  2006 Series B Refund Refunding Bonds, par value $22,315,000, were sold on 
September 2006 for total proceeds of $23.8 million. 
 
Solid Waste refunded or defeased its’ 1978, 1993, 1997, and 2001 revenue and revenue and refunding bonds 
with proceeds of new bonds and operating cash.  As of December 31, 2006, $48.4 million of the bonds 
outstanding are considered refunded or defeased. 
 
In 2006, the Sewer fund issued par value $55 million of Sewer Revenue and Refunding Bonds for total proceeds 
of $56.2 million and payable over 30 years.  They used $9.6 million of operating cash to defease $9 million of the 
1994B Revenue Refunding Bonds.  The cost of the defeasance was $899,637.  The Sewer fund has no other 
defeased bonds. 
 
The Water fund has $15.5 million of outstanding 1997 Water System Revenue bonds considered defeased. 
 
The Power fund has $221.5 million of outstanding Revenue and Revenue and Refunding bonds considered 
defeased. 
 
These refunded bonds constitute a contingent liability for Solid Waste, Sewer and Power only to the extent that 
cash and investments presently in the control of the refunding trustees are not sufficient to meet debt service 
requirement, and are therefore excluded from the financial statements because the likelihood of additional funding 
requirements is considered remote. 
 
G.  Restricted assets 
The balance of the restricted assets accounts in the enterprise funds are as follows: 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 
 
 Cash for construction 231,012 
 Cash for debt service 54,601 
 Cash for other special purposes 93,362 
 Investments for other special purposes 2,776 
 Notes and contracts receivable 7,148 
     Total restricted assets $388,899 
   
H.  Related party transactions 
The City is not aware of any related party transactions. 
 
I.  Federal Compliance Requirements for Municipal Securities Issuers. 
Internal Revenue Code Sections 103 and 148-150 and U. S. Treasury Regulation Sections 1.148-1.150 require 
that most tax-exempt bonds issued after August 31, 1986 are subject to the arbitrage rebate requirement and the 
tax-exempt proceeds subject to yield restrictions. 
 
The City monitors the tax-exempt issues for compliance and rebates. 
 
The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) does correspondence examinations periodically.  In May 2004 the IRS began 
an examination on 6 tax-exempt bond issues of $225 million in bonds for Tacoma Power, Tacoma Water, 
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Environmental Service and Wastewater Management and General Government.  In April 2005 the City received 
notification from the IRS that they had successfully completed the correspondence examination.  There have 
been no other Federal Compliance issues since then. 
 
J. Reserved Fund balances 
In the fund financial statements, the governmental funds report a reserve of fund balances that are legally 
segregated for a future use or are not available for appropriation.  
 
Reserved fund balances at December 31, 2006 are as follows: 
 

General Fund

Other 
Governmental 

Funds Total
Reserved for:
Encumbrances 1,400               13,727             15,127         
Advances to other funds 7,499               2,580               10,079         
Other purposes 654                  1,000               1,654           

Total reserved fund balance 9,553$             17,307$           26,860$        
 

Reserved for encumbrances. A reserve is reported to recognized outstanding commitments in subsequent 
periods. 
 
Advances to other funds. The reserve should agree with the advances to other funds to segregate current 
financial resources that are not available for appropriation. 
 
Other purposes. The reserve is used to match the reservation of fund balance to the long-term receivables,  and 
inventory reported in the governmental funds. Even though, this represents a financial resource, this does not 
constitute a current financial resource because the receipt is not expected until future years. 
 
Note 5   Pension plan obligations 
 
Employees of the City, other than law enforcement officers, firefighters, and railroad employees, are covered by 
the Tacoma Employes' Retirement System, an actuarially funded system operated by the City.  Law enforcement 
officers and firefighters are covered by the Law Enforcement Officer and Firefighter Retirement System (LEOFF) 
which is operated by the State of Washington for law enforcement officers and firefighters throughout the State of 
Washington.  Additionally, the City administers two single employer pension funds as required by State Statute - a 
Police Relief and Pension Fund and a Firemen’s Relief and Pension Fund. 
 
A.   Tacoma Employe’s Retirement System Fund (TERS) 
1. Administration of the System:  The "Tacoma Employes' Retirement System" is a local single employer 
defined benefit pension retirement plan covering City of Tacoma employees.  The Board of Administration of the 
Tacoma Employes’ Retirement System administers the plan and benefit provisions are established in accordance 
with Chapter 41.28 Revised Code of Washington and Chapter 1.30 of the Tacoma City Code.  There are currently 
1,734 retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits, 308 vested terminated employees entitled to future benefits; 
and 2,968 active members of Tacoma Employes’ Retirement System, as of December 31, 2006. 
 
2. Basis of Accounting: The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Employee 
and employer contributions are recognized as revenues in the period in which employee services are performed, 
and expenses are recorded when the corresponding liabilities are incurred, regardless of when payment is made. 
 
3. Investments:  Equity securities, fixed income securities, real estate, and short-term investments are all 
reported on a trade date basis, at fair value.   Fair value was determined by our custodian bank utilizing standard 
industry practices and verified by our performance consultant.  No more than 5% of any TERS portfolio at cost 
may be invested in the securities of a single issuer or in a single tangible asset, excluding securities issued by the 
U.S. government or its agencies.  Further, no more than 1.5% of any TERS stock or bond portfolio at cost may be 
invested in the securities of any company with less than $75 million in available market capitalization in that class 
of security. 
4. Contracts:  The system has no securities of the employer and related parties included in the plan assets.  The 
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system has not made any loans to the employer in the form of notes, bonds, or other instruments. 
 
5. Benefits:  The pension received upon retirement is a product of the member’s average monthly salary for the 
highest consecutive 24-month period, the number of years of membership credit, and a percentage factor (2% 
maximum) which is determined based on the member’s age and years of service.  The system also provides 
death and disability benefits. 
 
6. Contribution Rates:  Covered employees are required by Chapter 1.30 of the Tacoma City Code to contribute 
6.44% of their gross wages to the System and the employer contributes 7.56% for a total of 14.0% of gross 
wages contributed.  During 2006, contributions totaling $24.9 million ($13.2 million by the employer and $11.7 by 
employees) were made in accordance with the actuarially determined contribution requirements.  The employer 
contribution rate is determined by actuarial funding method identified as the “entry age cost method”. 
    
7. GASB Statement 25:  The note disclosures above emphasize the employer disclosures with additional 
detailed information presented in an independent annual report issued by the Retirement System.  Further 
detailed information regarding these disclosures can be found in that report which may be obtained by writing to 
Tacoma Employes’ Retirement System, 747 Market Street, Room 1544, Tacoma, WA  98402. 
 
8. Funding Status and Progress:  Five-year historical trend information about TERS is presented with 
supplementary information and can be found in the required supplementary information section of this report.  
This information is intended to help assess TERS funding status on a going-concern basis, and assess progress 
made in accumulating assets to pay benefits when due, and make comparisons with other public employee 
retirement systems. 
 
9. Actuarial Methods and Significant Actuarial Assumptions: 

 
Valuation Date: January 1, 2007 
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age 
Amortization Method: Level Percentage of the System’s Projected Payroll 
Remaining Amortization Period: 18.6 years (Open) 
Asset Valuation Method Assets are valued at market value, with a four year 

smoothing of all market value gains and losses. 
Actuarial Assumptions:  
     Investment Rate of Return 7.75% 
     Projected Salary Increases 4.0% 
     Includes Inflation at 3.25% 
     Cost of Living Adjustments 2.125% 

    
Analysis of the dollar amounts of plan net assets, actuarial accrued liability, and unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability in isolation may be misleading.  Expressing plan net assets as a percentage of the actuarial accrued 
liability provides one indication of Tacoma Employes’ Retirement System funding status on a going-concern 
basis.  Analysis of this percentage over time indicates whether the system is becoming financially stronger or 
weaker.  Generally, the greater this percentage, the stronger the system.  Trends in the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability and annual covered payroll are both affected by inflation.  Expressing the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability as a percentage of annual covered payroll approximately adjusts for the effects of inflation and 
aids in analysis of Tacoma Employes’ Retirement System progress made in accumulating sufficient assets to pay 
benefits when due.  Generally, the smaller this percentage, the stronger the system. 
 
Annual  Pension Cost and  Net Pension Obligation: 
The City’s annual pension cost and net pension obligation to the Retirement System for the current year were as 
follows: 
                                                                                  (amounts in millions) 
Annual Required Contribution (ARC): $ 13.2  
Adjustment to ARC:         0  
Annual Pension Cost (APC): 13.2  
Contributions made:    13.2  
Increase/(Decrease) in Pension Obligation: ( 0)  
Net Pension Obligation at beginning of year:   (.4)  
Net Pension Obligation at end of year: $   (.4)  
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Trend Information 
($ in millions) 

Year Ending Annual Pension Cost(APC) % of APC Contributed Net Pension Obligation 
12/31/2002 $  11.6 100% $(.4) 
12/31/2003 $  11.6 100% $(.4) 
12/31/2004 $  13.0 100% $(.4) 
12/31/2005 
12/31/2006 

$  13.1 
$  13.2 

100% 
100% 

$(.4) 
$(.4) 

    
 

B.  Law Enforcement and Firefighters’ Retirement System (LEOFF) 
The City of Tacoma contributes to the LEOFF system, a contributory cost sharing, multi-employer retirement plan 
administered according to state statute by the State of Washington through the Department of Retirement 
Systems, per RCW 41.26, for all uniformed law enforcement officers and firefighters.  The LEOFF system 
contains two plans.  Retirement benefits are financed by employee and employer contributions, investment 
earnings and legislative appropriation. 
 
Participants who joined the system by September 30, 1977 are Plan I members.  Those who joined thereafter are 
enrolled in Plan II.  LEOFF provides retirement and disability benefits, and death benefits to plan members and 
beneficiaries.  The benefit provisions were established under the authority of legislative statute. 

 
Contribution rates for LEOFF Plan I are developed by the Office of State Actuary to fully fund the system. LEOFF 
Plan I members are required to contribute 0% of their annual covered salary and the City is required to contribute 
0.19% during January 2006 through August 2006 and 0.18% beginning September 2006. The State is 
responsible for the balance of the funding.  
 
LEOFF Plan II employers and employees are required to pay at the level established by the legislature.    LEOFF 
Plan II members are required to contribute 6.99% during January 2006 through June 2006, 7.79% during July 
2006 through August 2006, and 7.85% beginning September 2006 of their covered salary.  The City is required to 
contribute 4.39% January 2006 through June 2006, 4.87% July 2006 through August 2006, and 4.90% beginning 
September 2006.  The methods used to determine the contribution requirements were established under the 
authority of legislative statute. 
 
The City’s contribution for the years ending December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 of $2.6 million, $2.2 million, and 
$1.8 million, respectively, are equal to the required contributions for each year.  This represents the City’s full 
liability under the system, except for certain medical and disability obligations as covered under the Police and 
Firefighter’s Relief and Pension Funds outlined below. 
 
Pursuant to GASB Statement 27, the note disclosures above provide the employer disclosures and summarize 
detailed information presented in the independent CAFR issued by the State of Washington.  Further detailed 
information regarding these disclosures can be found in that report.  That report may be obtained by writing to 
State of Washington, Office of Financial Management, Insurance Building, P.O. Box 43113, Olympia, WA  98504-
3113. 
 
C.  Police and Firefighter’s Relief and Pension Funds 
 
1.  Plan description: 
The Police Relief and Pension Fund (PRP) and the Fire Relief and Pension Fund (FRP) are single-employer, 
defined benefit pension funds established and administered by the City in accordance with the requirements of 
the RCW.  Since the effective date of the LEOFF on March 1, 1970, no payroll deductions for active employees 
have been taken under these pension plans.    
 
These plans also provide post-employment healthcare benefits to members of the plans and certain excess 
pension benefits to LEOFF members hired prior to October 1, 1977. 
 
No new employees have been covered by either of these plans since March 1, 1970.  Pension obligations for all 
firefighters and law enforcement officers retired since March 1, 1970, whether hired before or since that same 
date, have been assumed by the State of Washington Law Enforcement Officers' and Firefighters' Retirement 
System (LEOFF), with the exception of certain minimal benefits in excess of the LEOFF  benefits. There are 0 
active Police Officer and 2 active Firefighters with prior rights covered under these plans as of December 31, 
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2006.  Retirees and beneficiaries of deceased retirees eligible to receive pension benefits currently number 215 
for the PRP and 261 for the FRP as of December 31, 2006.  There are no terminated employees under either 
plan who are entitled to benefits but not receiving them. 
 
A member of the FRP is eligible for retirement after completion of service for a period of five years or more and 
attainment of age 50.   A member is eligible for disability benefits if disabled for a minimum of six months.  An 
individual becomes vested after five years of service. A member of the PRP is eligible for benefits after 
completing 25 years of service.  An individual becomes vested after five years of service.  Since there have been 
no new employees covered under these systems since 1970, all employees are fully vested. 
 
The PRP and FRP make three types of payments:  (1) pensions to eligible members retired prior to March 1, 
1970, (2) amounts to certain eligible members retired after that date if the amount received from LEOFF does not 
equal or exceed the amount entitled from the appropriate prior pension fund, and (3) medical services for both 
active and retired firefighters and law enforcement officers, excluding those hired since October 1, 1977.  The 
medical services are an obligation that may be paid directly from the City's General Fund if so desired. The 
pension benefits are tied to the current pay rates for the rank the members held at retirement and/or the cost of 
living index.  Benefits are established in accordance with RCWs 41.16, 41.18, 41.20, and 41.26. 
 
Benefits are calculated based on length of service (a percentage for each year of service) and on the final 
average salary (calculated over the last two years of credited service).  There were no changes in benefit 
provisions in the current year.   
  
Each police officer or firefighter in service on March 1, 1970 receives the greater of benefit payable under the 
LEOFF system and the benefits available under the old law.  Where benefits under the old law exceed those 
under LEOFF, the excess benefits are paid by the Pension Fund of the City employing him/her on March 1, 1970. 
 
Post-retirement medical benefits are available to firefighters and law enforcement officers hired before October 1, 
1977 only.  For retirees before June 8, 1961, only medical expenses that are directly related to their disability 
retirement are eligible for payment.  Those who retired or will retire after June 8, 1961, have medical insurance 
paid by the City through the City's normal medical insurance carrier.  The City will also pay any expense in excess 
of those covered by the medical insurance carrier.  All benefits are funded on a pay-as-you-go basis.  At 
December 31, 2006, there were 242 retired law enforcement officers and 287 retired firefighters who are eligible 
for medical coverage (this does not include active employees). 
 
The post retirement medical benefits are accounted for in the PRP and FRP trust fund financial statements.  
Since these benefits are paid on a pay-as-you-go basis - the beginning fund balance is zero; contributions of   
$3.1 million and $3.7 million were made for PRP officers and FRP officers, respectively, which equaled benefits 
paid; and the ending fund balance is zero. 
 
2.  Basis of Accounting: 
The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  Employer contributions are 
recognized as revenues in the period in which they are due and the City has made a formal commitment to 
provide the contributions.  Expenses are recorded when the liabilities are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with terms of the plan. 
 
3.  Investments: 
Plan investments are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair 
value.  
 
4.  Contributions required and contributions made: 
The PRP is funded entirely from a biennially budgeted contribution from the City’s General Fund.  Funding of 
these benefits is required by RCW.  The General Fund is responsible for ensuring that the fund has adequate 
cash to pay its obligations each year.  Total contributions to the PRP were $3.2 million in 2006. 

  
The FRP is funded from two sources:  (1) 22-1/2 cents per $1,000 of assessed valuation has been earmarked 
from property taxes as authorized by R.C.W. 41.16.060, and 25% of the tax on fire insurance premiums collected 
by the State is earmarked by State law for distribution to cities for this purpose.  This amount was $4.5 million in 
2006; and (2) the balance of 1.1 million is made up of a biennially budgeted contribution from the City's General 
Fund.  Funding of these benefits is required by RCW.  Total contributions to the FRP were $5.6 million in 2006. 
There have been no required employee contributions to the police and firefighter’s relief and pension plans since 
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March 1, 1970. 
 

An actuarial valuation of these funds will no longer be performed on these plans because all monies in the “prior’ 
system funds were transferred to the State of Washington on March 1, 1970.  No new employees have been 
covered by either of these plans since March 1, 1970. These plans are funded on a “pay as you go” basis using a 
cash flow projection performed by Milliman rather than an actuarial funding plan to liquidate liabilities which is not 
considered material. The City uses this cash projection to budget annual amounts to transfer to these funds for 
benefits. Actual expenditures may be greater or less than the budgeted amounts.  Monies are transferred as 
needed.  
 
The number of participants and actual benefits paid (in thousands) has been fairly constant over the years:   

 
 Police Relief & 

Pension 
  

Actual  
 Firefighter's Relief 

& Pension 
  

Actual  
 Number of  Benefits   Number of  Benefits  

Year End Participants Active Paid Year End Participants Active Paid 
12/31/2003 253 1     $1,798 12/31/2003 289 3    $2,333 
12/31/2004 251 1 2,606 12/31/2004 291 3 2,211 
12/31/2005 223 0 1,962 12/31/2005 265 3 2,070 

12/31/2006 215 0 2,146 12/31/2006 261 2 2,603 

The financial statements of the PRP and FRP are included in the City’s annual financial report in the Combining 
Fiduciary statement section.  Further detailed information regarding these pension plans may be obtained by 
writing to the City of Tacoma - Fire and Police Pension, 747 Market Street, Room 1520, Tacoma, WA  98402. 
 
(Tables amounts for Actual Benefits Paid expressed in thousands) 
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Note 6   Deferred Compensation 
 
The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan through a third party created in accordance with 
Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The plan, available to all City permanent full-time and part-time employees, 
permits them to defer a portion of their salary until future years.  The deferred compensation is not available to 
employees until termination, retirement, disability, death, or unforeseeable emergency, but the plan does offer a 
loan provision.  An employee may defer 100% of their salary net of employee pension contributions and any 
Section 125 deductions.  The 2006 contribution limits are $15,000 for regular deferral, $30,000 for pre-retirement 
and $20,000 for age 50 provision deferrals. The City has agreed through contract negotiation with the Police union 
and the Fire union to match contributions made by all Policemen and Firemen up to a maximum of $192 per pay 
period. 
 
Note 7 Interfund activity 
 
Interfund activity is composed of three types of transactions. Transfers represent a sharing of resources between 
funds.  At the fund level, these transfers increase or decrease individual funds resources, but they do not affect the 
City’s total resources.  Advances to and from other funds are loans between funds for capital or cash flow 
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purposes.  Due to and due from other funds represent internal charges for services except for billings for utility 
services which are considered “external” in nature.  These internal activities do not represent inflows or outflows of 
the City’s resources; rather, they reflect resources being moved within the City.  The effects of these transactions 
are included in the City’s fund statements but are removed from the entity-wide financial statements. 
 
The composition of interfund balances (amounts expressed in thousands) at December 31, 2006 is as follows: 
 
Interfund balances--2006 (amounts expressed in thousands) 

Due To
General 

Fund Sewer Water Power
Internal 
Service

Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Nonmajor 
Business-Type 

Pension
and Trust 

Funds Total

General Fund -                3             754           59            140           595                    2,500                  -            $4,051

Sewer 483               -          -           203          11             2                        6                         -            $705

Water -                -          -           494          8               -                     -                      -            $502

Power 650               3             4               -           146           -                     38                       14 $855

Internal Service Funds 74                 13           5               184          13             -                     -                      -            $289
Nonmajor Governmental 
Funds 651               -          -           2              17             519                    -                      -            $1,189
Nonmajor Business-Type 
Funds 454               1             -           182          24             -                     173                     1                $835

Pension and Trust Funds -                -          -           1              -                     -                      1                $2

$2,312 $20 $763 $1,125 $359 $1,116 $2,717 $16 $8,428

Due From

 
 
Interfund balances result when transactions are recorded in the accounting system and payments are made 
between funds during the 13th period (period from after December 31st, 2006 until year-end close). 
 
 
Advance From and To other funds 
 

Nonmajor
Governmental 

Nonmajor Governmental - 130 $130

Nonmajor Business-Type 4,950 2,450 $7,400

Internal Service Funds 2,549 $2,549

$7,499 $2,580 $10,079

 Advance To 

Advance From General Fund Total

 
 
The below information provides detail of the interfund payable transactions: 
 

The amount of $130,000 due to Nonmajor Governmental Funds from Nonmajor Governmental Funds resulted
from loans to pay for condemnation and acquisition of certain blighted property and for asbestos removal,
demolition, and site cleanup of said City-owned parcels. 
 
The amount of $4,950,000 due to the General Fund from Nonmajor Business-Type resulted from the
installation of a new septic system at Tacoma Narrows Airport. Additionally, in 2006 the Airport loan with the
Convention Center is now obligated to be paid to the General Fund which is for the Tacoma Narrows Airport to
purchase Sunriver Asset Management, LLC, buildings and the leasehold on which the buildings are located
and to provide financing for certain Tacoma Narrows Airport improvements.  The balance of these loans
should be paid within subsequent years.  The Mountain Division Rail is also experiencing a negative cash flow
and a loan was authorized to provide for its solvency until a business plan and rate study is completed. 
 
The amount of $2,450,000 due to Nonmajor Governmental from Nonmajor Business-Type resulted from loans
to provide bridge funding for railroad upgrade work, construction of a rail-loading facility upon railroad right-of-
way owned by the City. 
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The amount of $2,549,000 due to the General Fund from Internal Service Funds resulted from loans to pay for 
the cost of rehabilitation and acquisition of the Tacoma Municipal Building.  
  

Transfers Out General Fund

Non-Major 
Governmental 

Funds

Non-Major 
Business-Type 

Funds
Internal 
Service Total

General Fund -                  2,007                 869                  2,451         $5,327
Sewer 5,379              -                     -                   104            $5,483
Water 4,182              -                     -                   120            $4,302
Power 24,380            -                     -                   177            $24,557
Non-Major Governmental Funds 125                 194                    3,606               67              $3,992
Non-Major Business-Type Funds 5,707              -                     362                  99              $6,168
Internal Service Fund 500                 49                      -                   -             $549

$40,273 $2,250 $4,837 $3,018 $50,378

Transfers In

 
 
The information below provides details of the interfund transfer transactions: 
 
$2,007,000 was transferred from General Fund to Nonmajor Governmental for reimbursement for the Art 
program and for continuous capital improvements. 
 
$869,000 was transferred from General Fund to Nonmajor Business-Type to assist the Theatres (BCPA) 
throughout the year and to support operations. 
 
$2,451,000 was transferred from General Fund to Internal Service to assist with facility maintenance for City-
owned buildings and to payoff an interfund loan that was authorized for immediate needs for the police 
department facilities. 
 
$5,379,000 was transferred from Sewer to General Fund to record the transfer of 2006 billed and unbilled gross 
earnings tax. 
 
$104,000 was transferred from Sewer to Internal Service to record a donated vehicle for Equipment rental fund. 
 
$4,182,000 was transferred from Water to General Fund to record the transfer of 2006 billed and unbilled gross 
earnings tax. 
 
$120,000 was transferred from Water to Internal Service fund to record 2006 Fleet Services contribution. 
 
$24,380,000 was transferred from Power to General Fund to record the transfer of 2006 billed and unbilled gross 
earnings tax. 
 
$177,000 was transferred from Power to Internal Service fund to record 2006 Fleet Services contribution. 
 
$125,000 was transferred from Nonmajor Governmental to General Fund to support the Fire department 
operations. 
 
$194,000 was transferred from Nonmajor Governmental to Nonmajor Governmental to record reimbursement for 
LID projects and to reimburse Streets fund for street-related improvements. 
 
$3,606,000 was transferred from Nonmajor Governmental to Nonmajor Business-type to transfer the pledge 
revenue from the Tourism and Convention Special Revenue fund to Convention Center fund and to record 
contributions to the Mountain Division from the Capital Projects fund. 
 
$67,000 was transferred from Nonmajor Governmental Fund to Internal Service Funds to record a donated 
vehicle for Equipment rental fund. 
$5,707,000 was transferred from Nonmajor Business-type to General Fund to record the transfer from Tacoma 
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Rail and Solid Waste for 2006 billed and unbilled gross earnings tax and to reimburse for property tax revenue 
used to liquidate the GO bond related to General Government Capital Projects. 
 
$362,000 was transferred from Nonmajor Business-type to Nonmajor Business-type to record the transfer of the 
Convention Center Parking Garage associated debt from the Convention Center fund to the Parking Garage 
fund. 
 
$99,000 was transferred from Nonmajor Business-type to Internal Service Funds to record 2006 Fleet Services 
contribution. 
 
$500,000 was transferred from Internal Service Funds to General fund to record the transfer of cash from the 
Graphics Services fund. 
 
$49,000 was transferred from Internal Service Funds to Nonmajor Governmental fund for a grant match for the 
Technology grant. 
 
Note 8 Other information 
 
A. Accounting changes 
In May 2004, GASB issued Statement No. 44, Economic Condition Reporting: The Statistical Section – an 
amendment of NCGA Statement 1. This statement amends the portions of NCGA Statement 1, Governmental 
Accounting and Financial Reporting Principles, that assist the preparation of the statistical section. The statistical 
section presents detailed information, in ten year trends, which assist users in utilizing the basic financial 
statements, notes to basic financials statements, and required supplementary information to assess the 
economic condition of a government. This statement provides new information that financial statement users 
consider essential. This statement was effective for the City’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2005. 
 
Starting in fiscal year 2005, Foss Waterway Development Authority (FWDA) was presented in the City’s 
financials as a discretely presented component unit which had previously been presented as an Enterprise fund. 
The presentation change was based on FWDA not providing services entirely or almost entirely for the City.   
 
B.  Risk management 
The City is self-insured for general liability, medical and dental insurance, unemployment insurance and worker’s 
compensation and records its claims and liabilities in the accrual basis of accounting.  Liabilities include an 
estimate for Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) claims.  The estimate for reported claims is based on Risk 
Management and Legal Departments’ projections and is adjusted annually.   The IBNR for the self-insured 
employee’s benefits is based on an average of 2-months claims from the reporting year. The General IBNR 
liabilities are calculated by a periodic actuarial study.  The handling and paying of all general liability claims for 
which the City is found legally liable is accounted for in either the Self-Insurance Claim Fund (5550) or the TPU 
Self Insurance Claim Fund 4800.  Monies are appropriated from various cost centers based on prior claims 
history and paid to these funds.   
 
The Self-Insurance Program is maintained in conformity with all laws, rules and regulations pertaining thereto 
and in accordance with the Revised Code of Washington in RCW 35.21.085 (2).   The City has carried a 
supplemental general liability policy with a $20 million limit and a $3 million deductible, renewable on August 13 
of each year.  As of August 2006, the policy has a $15 million limit with a $3 million self-insured retention.  This 
policy is provided to supplement the City’s current self-insurance risk for settlements in excess of $3 million. 
Supplemental liability policies are also held specifically for the Airport.  This policy renews October 1st of each 
year. 
The City also has a policy to cover extraordinary worker’s compensation claims with a liability limit of $25 million 
with a $1 million retention.  This policy renews January 1st of each year. 
 
The city carries property coverage with a maximum single occurrence limit of $500,000,000 with $100,000 
deductible per occurrence, with exceptions.  Earthquake coverage has a 5% or $250,000, whichever is greater 
per building deductible.  This policy renews March 1st of each year. 
 
The TPU Self-Insurance Claim Fund was established in 1979 to cover general liability claims of the Light and 
Water divisions.  The Belt Line Railroad became a participant in 1985.  Total assets in this fund are $4.5 million.  
Settlement payments were within amounts available for coverage for the last three years—2006, 2005 and 2004. 
Changes in estimated claims settlements liability for the past two years were as follows: 

47



City of Tacoma, Washington 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006 
 

 

 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 
 
 Self Insurance Fund Workers Compensation 

Fund 
TPU Self Insurance Fund 

 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 
Balance Jan 1, 2006 13,986 30,454 1,553 1,181 5,525 2,772 
New Claims 1,165 4,649 2,085 2,258 71 3,695 
Adjustments to Claims 1,490 (17,714) 2,355 1,338 (4,243) (623) 
Claims Payment (1,021) (3,403) (3,318) (3,224) (504) (319) 
Balance Dec. 31, 2006 $15,620 $13,986 $2,675 $1,553 $849 $5,525 
 
C.  Prior Period Adjustments 
Prior Period adjustments are used for the correction of an error or the implementation of a new authoritative 
standard.  
 
Subsequent to the issuance of the December 31, 2006 financial statements, prior period adjustments were 
made. 
 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 
 
Fund Name Amount Description
General Fund (255)            To transfer street vacation funds recorded in the  

General Fund in 2005 which should have been receipted
in the PW Facilities Right-of-Way Streets fund.
Additionally, an increase to Allowance for
uncollectible accounts was made to properly
reflect the amount of EMS accounts receivable
the City did not expect to receive.  A four-year
historical average was utilized to arrive at the 
amount adjusted.

(828)            To adjust Allowance for Uncollectible accounts for Tax and 
License for prior years.

Courts (9)               To account for a prior year grant accrual.

Public Works Streets 385             To account for capital outlay (infrastructure) not recognized 
in prior year.

PW Facilities Right-of-Way Streets 293             To transfer street vacation funds recorded in the  
General Fund in 2005 which should have been receipted
in the PW Facilities Right-of-Way Streets fund.

Local Improvement Guaranty (11)             To adjust the deferred debits balance to zero.  This balance
was used to account for City-owned property.  

 

 

48



City of Tacoma, Washington 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006 
 

 
Fund Name Amount Description

Tacoma Fire Dept Emergency Medical Svcs (826)            An increase to Allowance for uncollectible
 accounts was made to properly reflect
 the amount of EMS accounts receivable
the City did not expect to receive.  A four-year
historical average was utilized to arrive at the 
amount adjusted.

Public Assembly Facilities Tourism & 
Convention (1,112)         To record a transfer made for 2005 Hotel/Motel tax

contribution.

Information Technology Cable TV 3                 To record a correction for capital outlay from 2005.

Entity-Wide Statements
Governmental Activities (743)            To reverse the correct amount for prior year tax levies. 

To make a correction for a duplication of City-owned 
property.

619,234      Due to the requirements of GASB 34, the City has included 
the remainder of its infrastructure assets for prior to 2002 
capital assets.

Total 616,131       
 
Business Activities

Sewer Fund 764             

GASB No. 23, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Refundings 
of Debt Reported by Proprietary Activities”, was effectively 
implemented in 2006.  FAS No. 154 requires a restatement and 
disclosure of this change and the impact on the financial 
statements.  Prior to 2006, the difference between the reacquisition 
price and the net carrying amount of the old debt was deferred and 
amortized as a component of interest expense over the remaining 
life of the new debt.  This change recognizes the amortization 
period as the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new 
debt, whichever is shorter.  In addition, the straight line method of 
amortization was implemented.  

Water Fund (10,361)       

Tacoma Water recognized System Development Charges as non-
operating revenues (capital contributions - cash) in the period that 
cash was received instead of recognizing revenue when it was 
earned. The generally accepted accounting principle of revenue 
recognition requires a change in accounting measurement from 
cash to accrual basis of accounting for system development 
charges collected. These revenues are considered to be earned 
and recognizable when Tacoma Water provides a hook up 
connection to provide water service to the entity paying the system 
development charge. Cash received prior to installation will be 
recorded as deferred revenues until the point in time when the 
critical earnings event required by the revenue recognition principle 
has been completed.  
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Fund Name Amount Description
Power Fund (1,032)         To restate net assets due to a miscalculation in determining

the Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt.

Convention Center & Bicentennial Pavilion 3,755          To record a transfer made for 2005 Hotel/Motel tax
contribution. To adjust the transfer made to Public Facilities
Assembly District.

Cheney Stadium 25               To account for advertising revenue received in 2006 for 
2005 services.

Solid Waste Fund (88)             

GASB No. 23, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Refundings 
of Debt Reported by Proprietary Activities”, was effectively 
implemented in 2006.  FAS No. 154 requires a restatement and 
disclosure of this change and the impact on the financial 
statements.  Prior to 2006, the difference between the reacquisition 
price and the net carrying amount of the old debt was deferred and 
amortized as a component of interest expense over the remaining 
life of the new debt.  This change recognizes the amortization 
period as the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new 
debt, whichever is shorter.  In addition, the straight line method of 
amortization was implemented.  

Tacoma Rail 79               
To adjust the initial inventory stock account balance due to SAP 
conversion. 

Total (6,858)          
 
D. Segment Information 
The following are the three segment enterprise funds maintained by the City. Segment information was as 
follows: 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 
 
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

 Convention 
Center & 

Bicentennial 
Pavilion Fund 

 Solid Waste 
Fund  Tacoma Rail  Total

Assets:
  Current assets 5,146                   25,964              5,782                 36,892            
  Due from other funds 2,508                   6                       157                    2,671              
  Restricted assets -                       52,465              2,340                 54,805            
  Capital assets 82,023                 53,867              7,555                 143,445          
  Other non-current assets 1,353                   955                   10                      2,318              
Total Assets 91,030                 133,257            15,844               240,131          
Liabilities:
  Current liabilities 1,961                   12,257              1,795                 16,013            
  Due to other funds -                       585                   80                      665                 
  Current liabilities payable from restricted assets -                       693                   -                     693                 
  Non current liabilities 79,817                 121,573            4,787                 206,177          
Total Liabilities 81,778                 135,108            6,662                 223,548          
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 1,084                   16,550              5,222                 22,856            
Restricted -                       49,366              2,340                 51,706            
Unrestricted 8,168                   (67,767)             1,620                 (57,979)           
Total net assets 9,252$                 (1,851)$             9,182$               16,583$           
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, 
EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

 Convention 
Center & 

Bicentennial 
Pavilion Fund 

 Solid Waste 
Fund  Tacoma Rail  Total

Operating revenues 3,210                   51,337              15,012               69,559            
Depreciation expense (2,098)                  (6,277)               (752)                   (9,127)             
Other operating expenses (4,553)                  (33,748)             (14,677)              (52,978)           
  Operating income (3,441)                  11,312              (417)                   7,454              
Nonoperating revenues (expenses): -                  
  Interest revenue 661                      2,038                128                    2,827              
  Interest expense (4,270)                  (3,809)               (87)                     (8,166)             
  Other nonoperating revenues (expenses) -                       (510)                  853                    343                 
Capital contributions 2                       37                      39                   
Transfers 3,114                   (4,023)               (1,379)                (2,288)             
  Change in net assets (3,936)                  5,010                (865)                   209                 
Beginning net assets 9,433                   (6,773)               9,968                 12,628            
Prior period adjustments 3,755                   (88)                    79                      3,746              
Ending net assets 9,252$                 (1,851)$             9,182$               16,583$           
 
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 Convention 
Center & 

Bicentennial 
Pavilion Fund 

 Solid Waste 
Fund  Tacoma Rail  Total

Net cash provided (used) by:
Operating activities 3,070                   19,712              (116)                   22,666            
Noncapital financing activities 3,476                   (14,121)             (1,378)                (12,023)           
Capital and related financing activities (12,671)                15,117              1,615                 4,061              
Investing activities 918                      2,086                129                    3,133              
  Net increase (decrease) (5,207)                  22,794              250                    17,837            
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 10,110                 49,339              4,733                 64,182            
Ending cash and cash equivalents 4,903$                 72,133$            4,983$               82,019$           
 
E. Tacoma Community Redevelopment Authority (formerly the Municipal Authority) 
The Tacoma Community Redevelopment Authority (TCRA) can borrow from the Federal Financing Bank in the 
form of a promissory note commonly referred to as the Section 108 Loan or 108 Note, which note specifically 
provides that it is not a debt of the City and that the City shall have no liability thereon.  The Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) has guaranteed repayment of any 108 Note to the Federal Financing 
Bank and, in accordance with an agreement between HUD, the City and the TCRA, the City has agreed in 
essence that if HUD must make good on its guarantee to the Federal Financing Bank than any default by the 
TCRA on a 108 Note could constitute HUD keeping federal Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds 
which otherwise would be available to the City or the TCRA.  This agreement specifically provides that any 
obligation of the City is payable only from federal CDBG funds pledged, and no liability or obligation arising under 
the agreement shall constitute a debt or indebtedness of the City. 
 
Further detailed financial information regarding the TCRA is contained in audited financial statements prepared 
by the TCRA and is available upon request from the TCRA. 
 
F.  The Performing Arts Center 
In February 1983, the City of Tacoma transferred to the Tacoma Community Redevelopment Authority, which is 
reported as a component unit in the City's financial statements, the newly renovated Pantages Theatre for $3 
million.  The transfer was accounted for by reducing the related contributed capital for the project directly against 
the cost of the project since the transaction occurred within the City's reporting entity.  When the transfer 
occurred, the total cost of the project amounted to $6.5 million. 
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As a result of subsequent transactions, the City entered into an Operating Agreement for possession and use of 
the building for a term of 35 years with one 10-year and one 20-year automatic renewal options. The future 
minimum annual lease payments paid by the Performing Arts Center Fund calculated at an implicit interest rate 
of 8 percent are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands): 
 

 

 
In addition, the future annual minimum sublease payments received by the Performing Arts Center Fund 
calculated at an implicit interest rate of 8 percent are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands): 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

G. Tax expense – Utility Funds 

The taxes expense shown in the statements for Enterprise Funds consists primarily of an 8.0% tax upon gross 
earnings for the Water, Beltline Railroad, Storm Drain, Sewer and Solid Waste Funds and a 6.0% tax upon gross 
earnings for the Light Fund that is paid to the General Fund.  Non-governmental utilities also pay gross earnings 
tax at the following rates: Natural Gas, 6%; Cable TV, 8.0%; Electricity, 6%; Solid Waste Collection, 8% and 
Telephone, 6.0%. 

H. Results of operations of joint ventures 
As discussed in Note 1, paragraph A, the Tacoma-Pierce County Health Department, and the Law Enforcement 
Support Agency (LESA) are joint ventures with Pierce County.  Summary financial information on the joint 
ventures are listed below for the year of the last audited financials.  These figures reflect the information as 
prepared and submitted to the City by the various entities.  Cheney Stadium is included even though reported in 
the Combining Statements for Nonmajor Enterprise Funds.  The City is the fiscal agent for LESA and Cheney 
Stadium.  Additional information about each entity can be obtained from separately published financial 
statements by each entity.  None of the joint ventures have long-term bonded debt.  Current debt is secured by a 
combination of assets and unrestricted net assets. The joint ventures have accrued sick leave and vacation 
liabilities as follows (amounts expressed in thousands): 
 

Cheney Stadium $     0 
LESA 0 
Health Department 1,247 

 
Cheney Stadium - The City of Tacoma and Pierce County both have an equal share interest (50% each) in the 
capital assets and both are jointly responsible for financing deficits.   
 
Law Enforcement Support Agency and Tacoma-Pierce County Health Department - The City and Pierce County 
are jointly responsible for approving the organizations' budgets, financing their deficits, receiving entitlement to 
their surpluses, and funding their operations (approximately 50% each). 
 
 

2006 
2007 

$ 451 
417 

2008 386 
2009 357 
2010 346 
2011-2015 1,382 
2016-2020 881 
2021-2025 402 
2026-2028 177 
  

2006 
2007 

$ 402 
372 

2008 345 
2009 319 
2010 311 
2011-2015 1,240 
2016-2020 725 
2021-2025 99 
2026-2028 44 
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Financial information for the joint ventures for the last audited year are summarized below: 
 

JOINT VENTURES                      
(amounts expressed in thousands) Cheney Health

Stadium LESA Department
Balance Sheet Date   12/31/06   12/31/04   12/31/05
Total Assets $2,753 $4,065 $12,684 
Total Liabilities 4 1,416 2,970
Total Net Assets 2,749 2,649 9,715
Non-current liabilities                   - 572 1,422
Capital Assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 1,835 1,531 1,527
Total Revenues 226 14,343 32,539
Total Expenditures/Expenses 298 14,409 32,969
Other Non-Operating Revenues/Expenditures 59                   -              238 
Capital Contributions                   -                   -                  - 
Transfers                   -                   -                  - 
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets               (13)               (66)             (192)
City Contribution  $             -   $3,220 $1,318    
 
 
Note 9 Claims and Judgments 

A. Claims 
From time to time, claims have been filed against the City involving tort actions for such things as defective 
sidewalks, automobile accidents, claims of false arrest, etc.; all of which are in a sense routine in nature and 
common to all local governments.  In those instances, when material, where it has been determined that it is 
probable that a claim will be paid by the City, the expenditure/expense and the related liability are reported in the 
statements of the appropriate fund in the year when such a determination is made.  See Note 8 B for risk 
management information. 
 
The City has entered into interlocal agreements with Pierce County Health Department and Law Enforcement 
Support Agency.  If, in fact, any of these entities were to suffer a catastrophic disaster and their self insurance 
funds and resources were to be depleted, the City and other participating jurisdictions would be required to stand 
behind and make good the excess liability. 
 
Under state law, the City is required to pay for unemployment and industrial insurance and medical aid.  The City 
has chosen to self-insure rather than remit its payments to the state pool.   See Note 8 B for risk management 
information. 
 
B.  Solid waste utility—landfill closure and post closure costs 
 
The Solid Waste Utility operates a 235 acre landfill site which became part of the South Tacoma Channel 
Superfund Site in 1983.  In United States et al., v. City of Tacoma, US District Court Cause No. C-89C583T, 
action was brought under CERCLA (Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act) 
to require cleanup of City's Landfill.  The City Solid Waste Fund elected to assume sole responsibility for cost 
and performance of cleanup to EPA (Environmental Protection Agency and DOE (Department of Ecology) 
standards. The Agencies and the City negotiated a settlement of the matter in the form of a consent decree, 
which was approved by the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington in March 1991. 
Remediation consists of (1) covering the landfill with cap of soil, clay and plastic which will be impermeable to 
water; (2) capturing methane gas within and at landfill perimeter to prevent off-site migration; (3) pumping and 
treating ground water to remove contamination beyond property boundaries; (4) closing the landfill over the next 
10 to 25 years in accordance with Tacoma Landfill Cleanup Consent Decree; (5) monitoring of cleanup results 
over the next 30 years.  Initial remedial actions to comply with the consent decree were completed in prior years 
at a cost of $52.9 million, of which $11.5 million was reimbursed through Washington State DOE grants.  State 
and Federal laws and regulations require the City of Tacoma Solid Waste Utility to place a final cover on its 
landfill when it stops accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for 
thirty years after closure.  Although future closure and post closure care costs will be paid only near or after the 
date the landfill stops accepting waste, Solid Waste began reporting a portion of these future closure and post 
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closure care costs as an operating expense in 1994 based on landfill capacity used as of the balance sheet date.  
 
The City reported $35.5 million for landfill closure and post closure care liability at December 31, 2006 which 
represents an estimated closure liability of $8.7 million for the remaining active cell and an estimated post-
closure liability of $29.6 million, the cumulative amount reported to date is based on an estimated 96% use of the 
total capacity of the landfill.   
 
Solid Waste will recognize an additional remaining estimated cost of closure and post closure care of $4.0 million 
as the remaining estimated capacity is filled.  These amounts are based on what it would cost to perform all closure 
and post closure care in 2006.  Actual costs may be higher or lower due to inflation, changes in technology, or 
changes in regulations.  The City’s permit to operate the landfill is valid through 2009 with one five-year renewal 
options based on meeting permitting agency parameters.  The City will be responsible for the costs of additional 
work if migration of pollutant from the site is not completely controlled by current remedial actions.  The City 
expects to operate the landfill through the year 2014. The City satisfies the requirements of 40 CFR Part 258(f) - 
“Local government financial test.”  To meet previous requirements of State and Federal laws and regulations, 
annual contributions were made to a reserve for financing closure and post closure care.  As of December 31, 
2006, $2.4 million was held for these purposes and is reported as a restricted asset on the balance sheet. 
 
C.  Potential environmental contamination or utility claims or suits 
 
The City is identified as a responsible party in various environmental cleanup projects under the federal superfund 
statute.  The City is involved in several lawsuits to recover a portion of the cleanup costs from other parties and 
recovery from insurance policies.  The City has also received grant funding to defray some of these costs. 
 
BNSF Oil Pipeline Release   
The City has been named as a potentially responsible party by the Department of Ecology (“Ecology”) for a 
contaminated site at the vicinity of East 19th and East D Street near the Thea Foss Waterway.   The 
contamination was caused when a 6-inch steel pipe used to transport oil from a storage tank to a Burlington 
Northern Santa Fe (“BNSF”) rail yard corroded causing oil to be released to the surrounding environment.  Other 
sources of contamination may have also contributed to the release at the site.  Some of the oil migrated into the 
City’s storm drains, which resulted in the City having to repair and replace storm drain lines and associated 
structures in the immediate area.   Despite the City’s high level of cooperation with Ecology over the past few 
years to identify and investigate the release of oil from the pipeline, and voluntarily seal its storm drain lines, 
Ecology issued the City and other parties an Enforcement Order on January 31, 2005, to complete certain 
remedial action work at the site.  The majority of the work required by the Enforcement Order has already been 
completed by BNSF under an Agreed Order with Ecology, but some additional work remains.  Exactly how much, 
and what it might cost are not known at this time.     

In 2007, the City intends to seek to recover the costs it has incurred from those it believes are responsible for the 
release of hazardous substances at the site.   This could result in cost recovery litigation being initiated by the 
City against those parties.  

Coal Gasification Site 
The State Department of Ecology (Ecology) has designated the City a PRP based on land ownership within the 
contaminated Coal Gasification Site. There are approximately five other PRP's.  At this time, the City does not 
expect to conduct or pay for any additional cleanup work at the site.  The City spent $645,000 on the site from 
1993 through 2003, the majority of which was spent in the earlier years.  The City may have an opportunity in the 
next year or so to negotiate a Consent Decree with Ecology to resolve its liability.  This matter is being handled by 
the City Attorney’s Office.   
 
Commencement Bay Natural Resource Damage (NRD) 
The City has resolved federal, state, and tribal natural resource damage claims associated with municipal 
stormwater discharges in Commencement Bay through a Consent Decree that became effective on December 
30, 1997.  The stated value of the City’s settlement is approximately $7,700,000.  Under the Consent Decree, 
(“the NRDA Consent Decree”) the City agreed to undertake five restoration projects within the Commencement 
Bay watershed, and make certain cash payments. Four projects have been completed.  The City is expected to 
complete the fifth project in 2008.   

Ongoing monitoring and maintenance of the various projects will continue through 2013.  A liability of $326,074 
and $334,000 in 2006 and 2005, respectively, has been accrued in the accompanying financial statements.  In 
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addition, in 2006 the Division received $544,137 from Central National Insurance for reimbursement of costs 
related to NRDA and the Middle Waterway.  

The law firm of Perkins Coie was assisting the City with this matter but is no longer under contract with the City 
for this project.  This matter is now being handled by the City Attorney’s Office.   

Although the City resolved its NRDA liability; the City indemnified certain parties when it purchased real property 
along the Thea Foss Waterway in the late 1980’s and early 1990’s.  The City expects that any financial obligation 
it may have related to these indemnities will be de minimus given the historical uses of the indemnified properties, 
and the limited potential for releases from these properties to damage natural resources.   

Cushman Federal Energy Regulatory Commission License.   
In 1974, Tacoma Power petitioned the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) to relicense its Cushman 
Dam Project located on the Skokomish River near Hoodsport, Washington. The Skokomish Tribe, along with 
others, contested significant portions of Tacoma Power’s proposal before FERC.  FERC issued a license in 1998 
for the Cushman Project, but the proposed conditions significantly increased the cost of operating the project.   
  
Tacoma Power appealed the license conditions to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit. The D.C. Circuit 
remanded the license back to FERC for consultation under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) after several 
salmonid species, including Fall Chinook, Summer Chum and Bull Trout, were listed as threatened under the 
ESA in 1999.  FERC issued a license order in June 2004 that incorporated conditions from ESA biological 
opinions issued by USFWS and NOAA Fisheries in March 2004.  At the same time, FERC lifted a stay of interim 
conditions, thus requiring Tacoma Power to install a valve in Cushman No. 2, increase the amount of spill from 
the project to 240 cfs and construct a bridge on the Reichert ranch.  On February 14, 2005, FERC denied 
rehearing and affirmed the License Order.  Tacoma filed a petition for judicial review of the license in the D.C. 
Circuit and obtained a stay of the “interim conditions”.  The D.C. Circuit issued an opinion on August 22, 2006, 
remanding the license to FERC and lifting the stay on the interim conditions.  None of the parties have appealed, 
therefore the case will proceed before FERC.  The parties are, however, exploring a mediated settlement option.  
Because the D.C. Circuit’s license opinion also resolved issues raised in a separate appeal Tacoma Power filed 
challenging the biological opinions, Tacoma Power has voluntarily dismissed that appeal.   
 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission Refund Proceedings.   
In July 2001, Tacoma Power, along with Seattle, Eugene, Northern Wasco PUD, Snohomish PUD and the Port of 
Seattle, sought from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) refunds from the sellers of power who 
sold power at extremely high prices during the energy crisis (October 2000 through April 2001) (the “Puget” 
proceeding).  The Puget proceeding is a case that was bifurcated from a much larger original refund proceeding 
referred to as the California Refund proceeding.  In the Puget proceeding, Tacoma Power is requesting between 
$65 and $145 million in refunds arising from power being purchased at prices that were extremely unreasonable.  
FERC declined to grant refunds, stating that even assuming that the prices were unjust and unreasonable, relief 
could not be equitably granted because not all parties were subject to FERC jurisdiction, parties relying on the 
spot market would be rewarded over those choosing longer term purchases, there were too many transactions to 
trace, and not all upstream sellers might be identified.  This matter was appealed to and is pending before the  
 
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.  The case was argued January 8, 2007, but no decision is expected 
for some months.  The Ninth Circuit has also considered a consolidation of some 150 appeals of FERC orders in 
the original California Refund proceeding, and has issued three opinions covering the major issues in the 
proceeding.  The first of these opinions, in 2005, held that FERC did not have refund jurisdiction over municipal 
entities, but that the plaintiffs were not barred from pursuing contractual remedies.  After this first opinion was 
issued, the State of California filed “claims” against all the municipal entities involved in the California Refund 
proceeding, including Tacoma.  Tacoma received a claim in the amount of $1.7 million on January 12, 2006.  
Tacoma has denied this claim, and it was not included in the suit filed by California against other municipalities. 
 
Tacoma also intervened in three FERC investigative proceedings involving El Paso, Portland General Electric 
and Avista, pertaining to similar issues.  Tacoma’s appeal in the Avista matter in the Ninth Circuit Court of 
Appeals is stayed pending decisions in the California Refund proceeding.  Tacoma Power also participates in 
consolidated “Gaming” and “Partnership” proceedings that FERC initiated in June 2003 to require a number of 
named entities to “show cause” why they ought not to be required to disgorge profits obtained as a result of 
market manipulation.  After FERC has settled with a number of parties, these proceedings largely focus on Enron.  
As did other parties, Tacoma reached a settlement with Enron in June 2006 in which Tacoma received the full 
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amount of its bankruptcy claim against Enron, in the amount of $3,288,519.71 as an “allowed claim” in the Enron 
bankruptcy.  Tacoma continues to participate in the proceeding in the event the distribution phase yields 
additional distributions of monies FERC has received through settlements with parties other than Enron in these 
proceedings. 
 
Hylebos Waterway  
The City has several storm drains that discharge into the Hylebos Waterway. These discharges allegedly
contribute to contamination in the waterway principally caused by industrial resources. Sampling has been done by
other PRP’s, and the extent and type of contamination has been evaluated. Under CERCLA (Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act), the City is jointly and severally liable with about 100
other parties. The total cost of cleanup is expected to range between $20 million and up to $80 million. The City
participated in an allocation process to determine the City's share of cleanup costs. The City, along with several 
other potentially responsible parties, negotiated a “cash-out” Consent Decree with EPA which required the City to 
make a $459,663 payment to EPA.   The Hylebos “cash-out” Consent Decree was entered with the U.S. District 
Court on September 15, 2003.   
 
Middle Waterway.   
The EPA designated The Division as a potentially responsible party (PRP) at this site. Pre-remedial design study 
and remedial design of the clean up plan for the waterway, which was being completed by others, is complete. 
The Division’s exposure to potential liability is associated with discharges from one local storm drainage system.
EPA notified approximately 10 parties that they were potentially responsible for sediment contamination in the
Waterway.  Total cleanup costs were estimated to range from $15 million to $17 million.  The parties did not
conduct a cost allocation but did reach Consent Decree settlements with EPA.   The City was joined in its Consent 
Decree with several other parties, all of whom resolved their respective liability to EPA by making cash payments.
The City’s payment totaled $1,185,000, of which $685,000 accounted for Surface Water’s portion. The City’s 
Consent Decree was entered by the U.S. District Court on August 14, 2003.  In July, 2004 the Division made an
additional payment of $500,000 to be reimbursed by a grant from the Department of Ecology.  The Division
received $119,000 and expects to receive an additional $358,000 from the grant.  Additionally, the Division spent
almost $27,000 in administrative costs.   Cleanup work in the Middle Waterway was completed by the fall of 2004,
by two groups of performing parties under separate Consent Decrees with EPA. 
   
Muckleshoot Indian Tribe Settlement. 
A mutually beneficial settlement agreement was reached with the Muckleshoot Indian Tribe in 1995.  The
settlement package has a cost of approximately $30 million and includes five basic elements:  1) building a fish 
restoration facility and annual operation and maintenance of that facility, or in the alternative, providing $12 million
(indexed at 1995 dollars) into a fish restoration fund; 2) providing for enhanced flows in the Green River; 3)
transferring certain lands; 4) establishing a trust fund payable over 40 years which is intended to provide for the
general welfare, educational and other needs of the Tribe;  and 5) limited access into the Green River Watershed.
The settlement will resolve past damage claims by the Tribe for Tacoma Water’s historical operations on the river,
gain the Tribe’s support for the Second Supply Project and provide the basis for a long-term, cooperative working 
relationship on the Green River.  Tacoma Water has been implementing this agreement.  In 2005, Tacoma Water 
concluded the alternative payment under item 1, and the transfer of certain lands under item 3.  The Muckleshoot
Indian Tribe has until 2015 to decide to develop the fish restoration facility.  Tacoma Water and the Muckleshoot 
Indian Tribe are scheduled to meet in September 2010 to review the status of this facility.  The estimated cost to
Tacoma Water for the facility is $2.675 million and the funding obligation decreases by one third for each year after
2005.  Tacoma Water is scheduled to pay $6.0 million in April 2007 for possible future expansions. 
 
Olympic View Resource Area 
Between 1998 and 2002, the City engaged in discussions with the EPA and DOE concerning the existence and
cleanup of dioxins on one of the restoration sites.  The City signed an Administrative Order of Consent for the
Olympic View Resource Area with EPA.  The City prepared a design for the work, which EPA approved.  The
cleanup and habitat restoration work at this site was completed in the summer of 2002.   A liability of $2,535,000 
had been accrued in 2001, with $2,400,000 in eligible costs being spent in 2002 and $15,000 per year from 2003
through 2005. The remaining liability at December 31, 2005 is $90,000.  
 
Robison Construction Inc.   
On Tacoma Water’s Second Supply Pipeline construction project, the contractor has developed two potential
“additional work” construction claims arising out of work done by its subcontractor Northwest Boring, in boring
tunnels for the I-5 and Green River crossings.  The potential claims are $2 million and $500,000, respectively.  The
contractor is not currently pressing these claims. 
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Thea Foss and Wheeler-Osgood Waterways 
In March 1994, the City voluntarily entered into an Administrative Order of Consent (AOC) for the pre-remedial 
design and remedial design phase of the Superfund cleanup of the Thea Foss and Wheeler-Osgood Waterways. 
The City of Tacoma was named as one of approximately 70 Potentially Responsible Parties (PRP) in these
waterways due to its surface water discharges as well as ownership of adjacent upland properties.  The AOC
required the City to perform sampling and analysis of the sediments in the channel and adjoining banks of the
waterways to determine the nature and the extent of contaminants present in the waterways and to develop the 
appropriate cleanup options, and to complete the remedial design for the project.   EPA terminated the AOC by
letter dated March 8, 2005, after determining that the City has satisfied all AOC work requirements.    
 
In August 2000, upon EPA selection of the appropriate remedial option for the waterway, the City began
developing the remedial design as required by the AOC.  The cost of performing this pre-remedial design and 
remedial design work was expected to range between $12 million to $15 million.  Funding was provided mainly by
the Division and to a lesser extent by contributions from a group of 25 entities who have entered into a Funding
and Participation Agreement with the City.  As of December 31, 2006, $16 million has been spent on pre-remedial 
design study of these waterways of which the Participant Group reimbursed the City $413,692.  In addition, the
Division signed a grant agreement with DOE authorizing grant reimbursement at the rate of 40% for eligible cost of 
$3.3 million for performance of pre-remedial design and remedial design activities in the Thea Foss and Wheeler-
Osgood Waterways and $1.3 million has been reimbursed. 
 
As required by the AOC, the City proposed a cleanup option to EPA based on the results of three rounds of 
sampling in the waterways.  The cost for the cleanup option selected by EPA was estimated at the time to cost
approximately $32 million. The City, along with other potentially responsible parties completed Consent Decree
negotiations with EPA September 30, 2002. The City’s Consent Decree requires it to clean up approximately 80%
of the Waterway.  Approximately 79 parties joined the City’s Consent Decree as “cash-out” parties.  These parties 
deposited $13 million into an escrow account that has transferred to the City when its Consent Decree was entered
with the U.S. District Court in May of 2003.  A portion of the cash-out proceeds, $2 million, was transferred to a 
group of private utility companies which will be performing cleanup work in the waterway under a separate Consent 
Decree with EPA.  Both Consent Decrees were “entered” by the U.S. District Court on May 9, 2003.  Construction 
of the City’s portion of the remedial action began in November 2002 under a Unilateral Administrative Order issued 
by EPA.   Remedial Action work under the Consent Decree began in the summer of 2003.   
 
During the 2004 construction season, the City’s contractor on the Foss Waterway Remediation Project (Manson)
submitted a change order proposal in the amount of approximately $1 million dollars for additional compensation 
due to unexpected changes in the work on the project.  Manson adjusted their request and south a total of $2.4 
million dollars in additional compensation.  The City and Manson resolved the claim in May 2006, for $675,000. 
The payments to Manson Construction total $58.9 million. 
  
On May 10, 2005, EPA denied the City’s request for a two-month schedule extension under the Consent decree to 
complete the Thea Foss Waterway cleanup.  EPA notified the City that because certain interim construction 
deadlines had been missed, stipulated penalties under the Consent Decree were accruing.  The City invoked
dispute resolution under the Consent decree to challenge EPA’s determination that stipulated penalties are 
accruing.  The City and EPA settled the dispute in September 2005, when EPA agreed to grant the City a schedule 
extension until March 1, 2006 to complete the work required under the Consent Decree, and to limit the stipulated
penalties it would impose for missing deadlines referenced in its May 10, 2005 letter to $358,000. 
 
The Division has signed two contracts with DOE for two consecutive time periods authorizing grant reimbursement
at a rate of 50% of $40.7 million eligible cost for Remedial Action in the Thea Foss and Wheeler-Osgood 
Waterways.  As of December, 2006, $78.9 million has been spent.  $17.8 million was reimbursed and $2.5 million
was accrued at year end and was received in April, 2007. 
 
By letter dated September 29, 2006, EPA provided the City a Certification of Completion of Remedial Action 
Construction which confirms that the City completed remedial action construction in full satisfaction of the 
requirements of its Consent Decree.  As of December 2006, the City spent $96,656,224 on study, design and 
cleanup of the waterway and the Participant Group reimbursed the City $11,860,593.  Additional reimbursements 
received to date include insurance cost reimbursements of $11,857,102 and MTCA grant reimbursements of 
$21,685,894.  The remaining cost is currently estimated to be $3,431,547 and a liability for this amount has been 
accrued in the accompanying financial statements.  The table below displays the financial impact for the years 
2006 and 2005. 
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Thea Foss Waterway 2006 2005
Contributions from others (30,000)$          (647,500)$       
Insurance settlement (6,455,863)      (5,273,239)     
Accrued grant revenue ‐                      (13,320,000)   
General fund liability adjustment ‐                      5,310,171       
Accrued expense adjustment 560,430           7,916,583       
   Total Thea Foss expense (5,925,433)$     (6,013,985)$    

 

On February 8, 2007, EPA made formal demand for payment of $358,000 in stipulated penalties against the City.
The City invoked dispute resolution and is currently working closely with EPA on settling the matter by undertaking
or contributing toward an environmental project in Commencement Bay.  The City expects to reach a settlement of 
the dispute sometime in the summer of 2007.  The Cascadia Law Group assisted the City with this settlement 
 
Thea Foss Upland 
The City has acquired approximately 30 acres of property adjacent to the Foss Waterway.  Much of the property 
exhibits contaminated soils.  Pursuant to a Consent Decree with the Department of Ecology, the City has
undertaken cleanup of several contaminated properties.  The City filed two lawsuits to recover its cleanup costs
against several companies historically responsible for contaminating parcels 3 and 7 along the waterway.  A
mediation to settle the lawsuits before trial resulted in several potential settlements.  Litigation may be possible with
one or more parties.  
 
Waste-to-Energy Plant   
Since 1991, the Solid Waste Division has disposed of a portion of its solid waste by converting it to Refuse-Derived 
Fuel (RDF), which was burned at a waste-to-energy plant operated by Tacoma Public Utilities (TPU).  In April
1998, TPU ceased operation of the plant, resulting in an increase in waste hauled to outside landfills. In January
1999, the Division began leasing the waste-to-energy plant from TPU and resumed operation of the plant.  In
October 2000, the City of Tacoma signed a 20-year service agreement with Tacoma Energy Recovery Company 
(TERC), whereby TERC agreed to provide plant management and operations services and pay for construction of
various capital improvements to the plant.  The Division agreed to pay for capital improvements necessary to 
increase the output capacity of RDF.  The agreement provided that TERC would receive payments from the net
proceeds of the plant and the Division and TERC would share net proceeds that exceeded a minimum amount.
Delays in obtaining the regulatory permits necessary to operate the plant in an economically effective manner
resulted in a decision to suspend operations in November 2001.  In February 2002, the service agreement
between the City and TERC was amended to provide that the City would pay losses incurred by the plant for the 
years 2000 through 2002 and TERC would pay any losses incurred after 2002. In each case, the party paying
losses would be reimbursed with 6% interest from plant revenues in future years.    In May 2003, the parent
company of TERC, NRG Energy, Inc., (NRG) filed for bankruptcy in the United States District Court in New York.
The City then filed a breach of contract claim against NRG and is pursuing that claim based on NRG’s obligation to
guarantee TERC’s performance under the service agreement, which is negated by the bankruptcy filing. The City
has filed a claim in the bankruptcy court against NRG.   
 
In December 2005 the City Council, after reviewing a proposal from a new operating partner, voted not to re-open 
the plant as a waste-to-energy facility.  The City and NRG reached a settlement in March 2006 resolving all claims.
In 2006, Solid Waste Division received $3.4 million in cash and proceeds from the sale of NRG stock in settlement 
of its’ claim; a 99.65% recovery of the allowed claim of $3.4 million. 
 
Environmental Insurance 
The City has continued litigating coverage for environmental damages associated with: (1) the City’s Federal
Superfund costs incurred at the Thea Foss and Wheeler-Osgood Waterways, the Hylebos Waterway, and the 
Middle Waterway; (2) the City’s state superfund costs at the Coal Gas Site; and (3) the City’s natural resource
damage costs under its NRDA Consent Decree.  The case (i.e., City of Tacoma v Great American Insurance et al., 
United States District Court, Cause No. C97-5504 TJB) was scheduled for trial in April 2006, but the City and the
defendant insurers have reached settlements on all claims.  The final settlement was expected to be executed this 
spring 2006.  The trial in this matter has been cancelled.  The law firm of Gordon Thomas Honeywell, et al., has
represented the City in this matter.   
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Note 10  Contingent liabilities 
 
Grants 
Under the terms of federal and state grants, periodic audits are required, and certain costs may be questioned as 
not being appropriate expenditures under the terms of the grants.  Such audits could lead to reimbursement to the
grantor agencies.  Some of the audits for the grants received by Wastewater and Surface Water Management
have not yet been conducted by the granting agency; therefore, some expenditure may be disallowed.  City
management believes disallowances, if any, will be immaterial. 
 
 
Note 11   Subsequent events 
 
On February 2007, the City Council approved the issuance and sale of Electric System Revenue Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2007, in an amount not to exceed $95 million, to refund all or portion of the Electric System 
Revenue Refunding Bonds, 1997. 
 
On June 25th, 2007, the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) notified the City that it intends 
to enforce the terms of a 1994 Indemnify Agreement the City provided WSDOT for certain environmental costs 
related to construction of the SR 509 Cable Stay Bridge (“SR 509 Bridge”).  WSDOT notified the City because it 
received a notice of claim in April from Puget Sound Energy, Advance Ross Sub Company and PacifiCorp 
seeking to recover Thea Foss Waterway Superfund costs attributable to WSDOT’s surface water discharges and 
other operations.  WSDOT has indicated that a portion of the Superfund costs subject to the claim may relate to 
construction of the SR 509 Bridge.  The City is preparing a response to WSDOT’s letter.  Litigation is possible. 
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Section 3
StatIStIcal SectIon

Financial Trends

These schedules contain trend information used in understanding how the City’s financial 
performance has changed over time.

 1. Net Assets by Component

 2. Changes in Net Assets

 3. Governmental Activities Tax Revenues by Source

 4. Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

 5. Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Revenue Capacity

These schedules contain information used in assessing the City’s revenue from property tax.

 6. Assessed and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property

 7. Property Tax Rates - Direct and Overlapping Governments

 8. Principal Taxpayers

 9. Property Tax Levies and Collections

Debt Capacity

These schedules contain information used in assessing the City’s current level of 
outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.

 10. Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

 11. Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

 12. Computation of Direct and Overlapping Debt

 13. Legal Debt Margin Information

 14. Computation of Constitutional Limit of Indebtedness

 15. Pledged-Revenue Coverage

Demographic and Economic Information

This schedule shows demographic and economic indicators used in understanding the 
environment in which the City’s activities take place.

 16. Demographic and Economic Statistics

Operating Information

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data used in relating the City’s financial 
report to the services the City provides and the activities it performs.

 17. Full-time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function

 18. Operating Indicators by Function

 19. Capital Asset Statistics by Function

 20. Contributing Staff
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